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The Azusa Street Experience was as much about what God was doing 
through teenagers and young people as it was about leaders such as William 
Seymour and Frank Bartleman.  
The stories contained in this book are about young people performing 
miracles, exercising God‘s gifts, and witnessing about God‘s power. These are 
stories about young people being a vital part of one of the greatest 
outpourings of God‘s Presence in history.  
If you are a teenager or young person, these stories are meant to inspire and 
encourage you. God can—and wants—to use you now, not sometime in the 
future when you ―grow up.‖ This book introduces you to many great 
Christians from the glorious Azusa Street meetings who went on to proclaim 
the message of God, and be used of Him in a mighty way. Some even 
founded great religious movements such as the Assemblies of God. But, first 
they were touched and used by God when they were as young as twelve and 
thirteen years old.  
Without question, God is orchestrating yet another great outpouring of His 
Shekinah Presence on this earth. The signs of His impending visitation are 
everywhere as even now revivals explode across the world. Those of us 
dedicated to bringing these stories to the world are convinced that one of the 
main reasons that God ordained this book to be published at this time is to 
inspire our youth! Forty years after a prophecy that these words would be 
published, God brought together those He wanted to use to make it happen. 
Each and every one on this team believe that God wants young people to 
know that He can use them in a mighty way just as He did a century ago with 
the young men and women you will meet in the following pages.  
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That which was from the beginning, which we have heard, which we have 
seen with our eyes, which we have looked at and our hands have 
touched—this we proclaim concerning the Word of life. I John 1:1   
A Book Of Many Authors  
Oral Traditions Captured in Print  
The first authors of this book are the Saints of Azusa Street 
who relived the stories of Azusa over and over again. They 
captured the attention of a young man affectionately called 
Brother Tommy. He would not only cherish their stories but 
would hide them in his heart until God was ready to have 
them memorialized in print.  
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The second author of this book is Tom Welchel, or Brother 
Tommy. He spent hours upon hours listening to these dear 
Saints for several years, allowing these stories to be indelibly 
engraved in his mind. For forty years he waited for the right 
moment that God had ordained for him to share his stories 
with an editor who would capture the essence of the stories in 
written form. 
The third authors are Dr J. Edward Morris and Cindy 
McCowan, who took this oral tradition and staying true to the 
accounts recalled by Tom, crafted the stories into an 
organized record of events of Azusa. The stories and book 
are told through Tom‘s eyes. The personal references refer to 
Tom. Whenever a first person personal pronoun is used, it is 
referencing Tom.  
The most important author is God, who ordained forty years 
ago that this oral tradition would become available to the 
world in print. God, in His magnificent power, has kept 
Tom‘s mind clear and precise, preserving these stories in 
minute detail. 

Preface  
Azusa Remembered  
Azusa Street has been the topic of a multitude of books. 
Writers have attempted to tell the Azusa story from a 
historical perspective, a doctrinal perspective, and a personal 
perspective from those who had experienced the awesome 
outpouring of God‘s Spirit. What is unique about this book is 
that it is a compilation of stories about those who were there 
but were mostly mere children or young people. 
These stories are fresh and revealing and are told from the 
eyes of youth as recalled up to sixty years later. The Saints 
recalled these stories over and over again in the mid-sixties to 
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a young man called Brother Tommy. While these stories were 
being retold, the sixtieth anniversary of the Azusa Street 
Revival was being celebrated. From a three-year-old child 
sleeping under the pews during the revival to other amazing, 
first-hand memories, Brother Tommy recounts the stories of 
Azusa Saints who had settled together at the Old Pisgah 
Home. This home had become a mission post that ministered 
to those who were less fortunate and in need of some sincere 
Christian ministering.  

Divine Appointments  

Forward by the Editor 

I made it a point to arrive early. I had no idea where I was 
going, and I had an important appointment with potential 
authors. As I drove into the Faith Family Church parking lot 
in El Reno, Oklahoma, 45 minutes prior to my appointment, 
Pastor Samantha Roach, who was about to leave, greeted me. 
Remember, I was 45 minutes early and just seconds before 
she was to leave the church, I ―just happened‖ to run into the 
very person I was to meet with. She had forgotten about our 
appointment, and if I had not arrived exactly when I did, she 
would have been gone for the afternoon. Samantha apologized 
that she had double-booked her time and suggested we meet 
for lunch in an hour at a restaurant in Yukon. 
Since there was another person in the parking lot of the 
church, and having time to kill, I greeted a man who 
introduced himself as Tom. We exchanged a few friendly 
words and then spent the next several minutes talking about 
the 57 magnum he had holstered on his side. Within minutes, 
I had met both the pastor and the man who, by divine 
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appointment, ―just happened‖ to be in the parking lot at that 
exact moment. 
As I left the church parking lot, I could see Tom walk over to 
talk with his pastor. Little did I know that their brief meeting 
would turn out to be the fulfilment of a 40 year old prophesy.  
Divine appointments! Forty years ago? Let me explain.  
Four weeks earlier, I was driving up and down the streets of 
Oklahoma City calling on pastors and introducing our 
publishing ministry. I was having little to no success. Even 
though it was Wednesday, I could not find a pastor in his 
study anywhere. I called on Baptist Churches, Churches of 
God, Assemblies of God and Nazarene Churches. Each time, 
the results were the same: Nobody was in. After about 90 
minutes of this frustrating process, I had a clear message from 
God. I was told to go back to my office and call pastors in my 
hometown and in the neighbouring town. With a huge sigh of 
resignation, I got on Interstate 40 and headed for Mustang.  I 
went right to my office, opened the phone book to the 
church listings and began to call. My very first call was to 
Faith Family Church. Pastor Paul Roach answered and when I 
told him I was looking for pastors with a desire to publish, he 
asked me to hold while he got his wife, Samantha, on the 
phone. In response to my introduction, I discovered that they 
were interested in publishing and that they had been in the 
process of trying to find a publisher. We set a time to meet 
four weeks into the future, and I hung up certain that this 
truly was a divine appointment—I just didn‘t know the 
magnitude of God‘s plan.  
Four weeks later, I found myself at a restaurant with Paul and 
Samantha Roach and the man I had met in the parking lot—
remember Tom, the man with the 57 magnum. My 
assumption was that Tom must have been the other 
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appointment and Samantha wisely combined the two 
meetings. My assumption was wrong. 
An hour earlier, God continued His intervention. Samantha 
had invited Tom to join us because she believed that he was a 
vital part of why we were meeting. After brief introductions 
and a brief overview of my publishing company, Samantha 
explained why Tom had been invited to join us. Tom also had 
a message that needed to put into print. 
Tom began to tell his story. It took me a few seconds to sort 
out what was happening. I discovered during the conversation 
that he was a private investigator—hence the cannon on his 
hip. I wasn‘t sure what his story was, but I was a captive 
audience—a man with a 57 magnum has my undivided 
attention. As Tom began to tell his story, I forgot about the 
gun. I knew immediately that his story had to be told. Now 
remember, my agenda was to meet with Paul and Samantha 
and set up the process to publish their books. But, on this day 
it wasn‘t about my agenda! It wasn‘t about Paul and 
Samantha‘s books. It was about a divine appointment 
between Tom, Paul and Samantha, myself, and God that had 
been written into God‘s day-timer forty years prior.  
Through an amazing work of grace, back in 1960, Tom found 
himself at the feet of several ―Azusa Street Saints‖ listening 
intently to their stories about this great Movement of God. 
Here‘s Tom‘s story in his own words about an amazing 
prophecy:  
The woman that prophesied to me was Jean Darnell. She is the woman 
who took over for Aimee Semple-McPherson when she died in 1944. At 
Pisgah, they had this publication called the Herald of Hope, and there was 
quite a large mailing list of about a quarter of a million names or more. 
If Jean was going to appear in some town, she would call Brother Smith 
and he would call me into his office and let me know what Jean needed. 
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Then I would go and get that city‟s mailing list and some surrounding towns 
and with the envelopes Jean would send, I would print addresses for her.  
It just so happens that one time there was going to be an international 
convention of the Full Gospel Businessmen‟s Fellowship in 1966, which 
was the 60th anniversary of Azusa, and it was to be held at Angelus 
Temple. Demos Shakarian, the founder of the Full Gospel 
Businessmen‟s Fellowship, had come to Brother Smith, who was a 
member of the board of Pisgah. He said that he wanted to get the Azusa 
Street Saints to come down to the convention and tell their stories. Well, 
they only had time for about three of them. 
Jean Darnell was coming to Pisgah to get some envelopes I had finished, 
and stopped by to see some of the ladies who were to tell their stories. 
During conversations, several of the ladies told Jean, “If you ever want to get 
the whole story, go talk to Brother Tommy over there at the Herald of Hope, 
because he knows every one of the Saints‟ stories and can tell ‟um better and 
more accurately that we can.” That‟s exactly where Pastor Darnell headed 
next. Jean Darnell came to the Herald of Hope office and when she saw me, 
she just looked at me and said, “Brother Tommy, come over here, I have a 
word from the Lord for you. The Lord is showing me that all these stories 
that the Azusa Street Saints have been telling you, and you have been 
learning and memorizing will someday will be put into a book.”  
I thanked her for her kind words, thought about what she had said, and 
then hid her words in my heart. I‟m not one that goes and starts trying to 
make God‟s prophecies come to pass. If it‟s prophesied to me, I just never 
forget „em; I never do forget, but I let God take care of it. He will work 
the timing out. What is it now, 40 years later? He‟s working it out for 
the 100-year anniversary.  
I remember a Christian song that was popular many years 
ago. The lyrics said, ―God has something to say to you, God 
has something to say. Listen, listen, pay close attention, God 
has something to say.‖ I don‘t think there is a better 
application for these lyrics than the message in this book. 
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God has waited 40 years to have these stories told. That is 
significant. Noah was on the Ark for 40 days. The Children of 
Israel wandered 40 years in the desert. Saul, David, and 
Solomon each ruled 40 years each. Jesus was tempted for 40 
days. And now God waits 40 years to keep this divine 
appointment. I think that if God had a specific time in mind 
to publish this message, there must be a divine reason. The 
stories that are told in this book are of particular relevance for 
today‘s generation of Saints, and I believe are even the seeds 
of a new outpouring of God‘s Spirit. William Seymour and 
others prophesied during the days of Azusa that there would 
be another great revival and outpouring of the Shekinah 
Glory around the turn of the next century. 

A Word Concerning The Shekinah Glory  

Throughout this book, you will read about the Shekinah 
Glory that fell on the Azusa Street Revival. 
Although the word ―Shekinah‖ is not found in the Bible, the 
Jewish rabbis used this non-biblical term, which they derived 
from a Hebrew word that literally means ―He caused to 
dwell,‖ to signify that this dwelling was a divine visitation of 
the Presence of God on the earth.  
The Shekinah Glory defines the mist or cloud that is present 
when God is physically present. In Exodus 24:16-17, we are 
told, ―The glory of the Lord settled on Mount Sinai. For six 
days, the cloud covered the mountain and on the seventh day 
the Lord called to Moses from within the cloud. To the 
Israelites, the glory of the Lord looked like a consuming fire 
on top of the mountain.‖ The term ―Shekinah Glory‖ is 
accurately and appropriately used to describe what happened 
at Azusa Street from 1906-1910. 
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Introducing Brother Tommy  

As many of the Azusa Street Saints were migrating to Pisgah, 
being drawn there to join other Saints for fellowship and 
divine purpose, Tom Welchel was headed to Pisgah from 
Chickasha, Oklahoma. God had a divine appointment with 
Tom and these dear Saints. Just as Jesus told His disciples that 
He needed to go to Samaria because God had a divine 
appointment set with the woman at the well, Tom would keep 
two appointments ordained by God: his Venice Beach 
appointment and his Pisgah appointment. The first 
appointment had to do with his salvation and the second 
appointment had to do with God‘s plans for Tom—including 
a plan that would span four decades before it was fulfilled. At 
the age of 17, Tom thought he was running from the law as 
he headed for California. What he didn‘t know is that God 
had prepared for him a homecoming of the prodigal son and 
that he was running right into the open arms of God Himself. 
Recalling his childhood, Tom noted, Mama took me to all the 
great revivals—tent revivals. I‘m talking about Branham, 
Cole, Allen, and Roberts. From a little bitty kid on up, Mama 
would take me to ‗em. I didn‘t know what was going on—she 
just wanted to punish me as far as I was concerned. 
When I saw Branham in 1954, I was only 11 years old. I saw 
that halo thing on top of his head when he was in Houston. I 
was glad I was sitting way in the back—scared the tullies out 
of me. That was one man I didn‘t want to get close to. 
So, I knew about the Gospel, but I didn‘t want it at that time. 
I was fourteen when I stopped going to revivals—almost fifty 
years ago. By the time I was fourteen, I was no longer afraid 
of Mama. In the past, if I got mean, she would say, ―Alright, 
I‘ll talk to your Daddy.‖ Well I didn‘t want Daddy to talk to 
me because he had a razor strap that would cut the blood 
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right out of me and he would use it. But my daddy went to 
McAllister State Prison when I was 14—the revenuers caught 
him selling corn liquor.  
 By the time Tom was seventeen, he had been living on the 
streets for fourteen months and was a criminal wanted by the 
police. Society was pretty much fed up with his lawlessness 
and was ready to lock him up and if possible, throw away the 
key. According to Tom, the police wanted him and were looking 
for him big time. Here are Tom‘s own words: An old friend of 
mine, Glen, came by and said, ―Tommy, the police knows who‘s 
been breaking in all those houses. They told me they have my 
finger prints.‖ So I says, ―I guess I‘m going back to prison.‖ 
―The cops say, ‗No! We want Welchel! We‘re gonna get him 
off the streets and the rest of you‘ll split up.‘ In fact, they have a 
warrant for your arrest and they are gonna come by and get you.‘‖  
But God had a different plan. God would use Tom‘s choice to 
run from the law as a life-changing decision. Tom could escape 
the reach of the law from Chickasha, Oklahoma, by running to 
California, but he couldn‘t escape the reach of God‘s love. 
Tom tells the story like this: A guy named Teddy and his 
grandma, who were con artists, wanted me to go to California 
with them. Things were rough in Oklahoma. 
More than once, Teddy got his teeth knocked out, his nose 
broken, and his eyes blackened cuz he would smart off. They 
were from Venice Beach and they wanted to go back, and 
they invited me to go with ‗em cuz I had a reputation as a 
good thief—I could be sitting there talking to you and leave 
with the stuff from your pockets in mine. 
I didn‘t really want to go to California and leave Oklahoma, 
but Glen reminded me that it was either go to California or 
go to jail. So I went to Grandma and Teddy and asked if the 
offer was still open to me. They said ―Yeah.‖ I told them 
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okay, but that I had two big boxes of loot that we needed to 
go and get early in the morning—stuff I‘d stolen. So the next 
morning we got my stuff and I got to runnin‘ from the 
authorities to keep from going to prison. When we got to 
Venice Beach, Teddy and I got into a fight over a girl. I didn‘t 
get the girl, but I whipped Teddy. Grandma said, ―Look, I 
don‘t care. I like you Tommy, but you can‘t stay here with you 
and Teddy fighting like this. You hurt him pretty bad!‖ So I 
got kicked out—lost my place to stay—and the girl.  
The stage was set for God‘s loving intervention. God used 
the fact that Grandma and Tommy were from Venice Beach 
in a powerful way. Tom was back on the streets but in an 
unfamiliar world. His situation was ripe for him to continue 
his lawless ways just to survive. But remember, Tom wasn‘t 
alone. Grandma may have turned her back on Tom, but God 
had not abandoned him. Those childhood years of sitting 
under the ministries of the great revivalists of that time 
planted seeds that were soon to be harvested. Mama‘s 
faithfulness in bringing up her child in the atmosphere of 
God‘s Word would not go unrewarded. Tom was about to 
meet God like he had never experienced Him in the past. 
Tom continues his story:  
I‘m down on Venice Beach, not knowin‘ what to do. It was probably 
four or five in the evening. I‘m sitting there thinking, ―What am I 
gonna do?‖ Uncle Ed lived in California but he was up there in 
Bakersfield and I didn‘t know which way Bakersfield was. 
Then I saw these two old ladies walkin‘ down there, and I was sure 
they were lookin‘ for someone to witness to. Well, I‘m sitting there 
with this long face, feeling sorry for myself, not knowin‘ where to go 
or what to do. I was really mad cuz the girl could have at least been 
nice, and now I am all alone feelin‘ sorry for myself. 
These two ladies came over and sat down, one on each side of me, 
and started talking to me. One of the ladies was the landlord at the 
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apartment where Grandma and Teddy lived. The other lady, kinda 
small and dainty, was called Sister Goldie. 
Sister Goldie did most of the talking while the Landlord sat there 
and held my hand. That felt good—she reminded me of both of my 
grandmas. They were talking about the Lord, and Sister Goldie asked 
if I knew anything about Him. I said, ―Yeah, my grandparents were 
devout Christians and would tell me and my mother about the 
Lord.‖ When they asked me if I wanted to pray the sinner‘s prayer, I 
decided why not, what have I got to lose? I thought, ―Man, you‘re 
here; you don‘t know anybody. What else are you gonna do?‖ At 
first, I really wasn‘t serious but rather kinda in my ―con‖ mode. But 
as soon as I said the prayer, to my astonishment, I felt something 
warm come all over me, and I began to cry. I looked at them and 
again to my surprise, I told them that that I was now a Christian. 
Somehow these two women broke through a wall that had been built 
up for years. Preaching to me never worked. I‘d rebel and you didn‘t 
want to get me mad. I was libel to hurt you. I said the prayer for 
these ladies because I was hoping these women would do something 
for me. It was time to eat and I was hungry. Even though I began 
the prayer insincerely, God heard it, and it was like I just had a heater 
go off in me. The love and kindness of these dear women touched 
me deeply. That day, that prayer changed me completely.  

Tom‘s divine appointment had been kept. Tom took a 1500-
mile journey that brought him to two sweet ladies whose love 
ushered Tom into his new life with Christ. The power of the 
Gospel caught Tom at a very vulnerable time. He had hit 
bottom with no place to go and all of the sudden he was 
touched by love. Two grandmotherly-type women who 
reminded Tom of his grandmothers—perhaps the only two 
people who had ever been kind to Tom—touched his soul. 
So the plan of God unfolded as Tom was led from Chickasha, 
Oklahoma to Venice Beach, California. But that was just the 
beginning of God‘s awesome plan. 
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After Tom told the ladies of his predicament, they brought 
him back to the landlord‘s apartment where he spent the 
night. The next morning, Sister Goldie returned to take Tom 
to a place called Pisgah—Tom‘s ultimate destination! 
Upon arrival at the Pisgah community, Sister Goldie 
introduced Tom to many of her friends—Azusa Saints who 
had moved to Pisgah. In 1960, Tom would meet many whose 
lives were touched and changed by Azusa. These were the 
children and youth of the Azusa Street Revival, now retired or 
near retirement. For six years, Tom would literally sit at the feet 
of these Saints and listen over and over again to their stories 
about the Azusa Street Revival and its impact on their lives.  

The Pisgah Connection  

In July of 1894, Dr. Yoakum was critically injured while on 
his way to organize a Class Leader‘s Association for his 
Methodist Church. He was struck by a piece of metal 
extending from a buggy operated by a drunken man. The 
piece of metal pierced his back, broke several ribs, and caused 
internal haemorrhaging. The wounds were so severe, a 
medical examination of his injuries showed that the injuries 
should have been fatal.  
Due to the extent of his injuries and the infection that lasted 
for several months, Dr Yoakum moved to Los Angeles 
hoping that the milder climate would give him relief from his 
suffering. The climate helped, but his relief came in the form 
of a miraculous healing from the ministry of W. C. Stevens. 
Dr Yoakum, almost in desperation, visited a Christian 
Alliance Church on Figueroa Street in Highland Park. There, 
Pastor Stevens prayed for him, and he was instantly healed. 
That was in February of 1895. By that summer he had moved 
to Highland Park and opened up his mission in fulfilment of 
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visions he had directing him to create a mission for the needy. 
Giving up his medical practice, he vowed to spend the 
remainder of his life serving the chronically ill, poor and 
destitute, and social outcasts.  
During the Azusa Street Revival gatherings in Los Angeles in 
1906 and 1907, Yoakum hosted many followers at the 
Mission site in Highland Park. The Mission was named Pisgah 
Home after the Mountain where Moses stood to view the 
Promised Land. Now you can understand the Azusa 
connection.  
Dr Yoakum was extremely important to the continued effects 
of Azusa Street in a very practical way. He often gave his 
workers pockets full of nickels, then told them to go down to 
the skid row area of Los Angeles and provide passage by way 
of a streetcar to Avenue 60 (the fare to ride was five cents). 
From Avenue 60, they walked one block to Pisgah where they 
were allowed to stay and become part of the community. It 
wasn‘t long before Pisgah became a large community. Again, 
it is important to point out that the ministry to skid row 
started by Dr Yoakum was still on-going when Brother 
Tommy arrived in the Sixties.  
After the death of Dr Yoakum in 1920, Christ Faith Mission, 
Inc. purchased Pisgah Home under the direction of Arglee 
Green. Sister Green and her sister restored Pisgah Home and 
renamed it ―Echo Home.‖  
Aimee Semple-McPherson conducted services at the Arroyo 
Seco River during the 1920‘s to tens of thousands of 
worshipers who later retreated to the Mission site for massive 
barbecues and meetings.  
In 1950, Reverend Harold James Smith came to manage the 
mission operations with a vision for revival. Reverend Smith 
re-named the site, ―Old Pisgah Home,‖ restoring its historic 
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name. He also began a publication of a salvation and healing 
newsletter called the Herald of Hope. 
By the time Reverend Smith took over, many Azusa Street 
Saints had come and settled at Pisgah. A variety of reasons 
drew them there such as fellowship and the opportunity to 
minister to those who gathered at Pisgah. By the time Brother 
Tommy arrived in 1960, Pisgah had become home for many 
of the Saints of Azusa who were mere children and young 
people back in the 1906 revival at 312 Azusa Street. 

Introduction to They Told Me Their Stories 

When I got to Pisgah, I soon realized that many of the people 
there had been a part of the great Azusa Revival. As I heard 
people talk about Azusa Street, I said to myself, ―Wait a 
minute, Momma talked about this Azusa Street thing. Some 
of the preachers that Momma would take me to hear would 
talk about Azusa Street.‖ Brother Smith, the overseer of 
Pisgah, told me more about the revival and also told me who 
at Pisgah had experienced Azusa. 
I was so shy back then. I was afraid to go talk to these Saints 
until one of the Saints, Brother Cantrell, prayed that I be 
given the gift of ―holy boldness.‖ After he performed that 
miracle in my life, I went down on skid row and witnessed to 
the men and women there about Jesus. No longer shy, I 
started going to these different Saints at Pisgah and asking to 
hear their stories.  
I was privileged as a teenager—I wasn‘t but 17—when I first 
started sitting and listening to these old Azusa Street Saints. I 
spent several years getting to know quite a few of these dear 
Saints of God. I heard the stories of the Azusa Street Saints 
over and over, every month for years until they died or until I 
left. I went to their apartments or wherever they were. Most 
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of them lived on the grounds of Pisgah, but a few lived 
elsewhere. It didn‘t make any difference; wherever they were, 
I would walk to them. Once in their homes, to show respect, 
I‘d sit down at their feet. Of course, I had told them that I 
liked chocolate chip cookies and milk. So when I‘d go to hear 
their stories, they had cookies and milk for me. I never grew 
tired of sitting with each person—sometimes up to a few 
hours—so I could hear these great Saints share their memories 
of the incredible move of God and His use of these willing and 
faithful teens at Azusa Street. I‘ve got the stories right here in 
my head where they have been for over forty years. 

Azusa From Under The Pew  
Meet Sister Darnell[„s mother?]1  Azusa Age: 3  
As they turned the corner, little three-year-old Jean could see 
the dingy white warehouse that people crowded into 24 hours 
a day. Although she was just over three years old, the journey 
was a daily affair and with the evening dampness in the air, 
little Jean couldn‘t wait to get inside the Azusa Street meeting 
place. Now a daily tradition, she would take in all the 
excitement that filled the room, marvelling and wondering 
about all that was happening around her. Although the child 
didn‘t understand why people were shouting and crying, nor 

                                           
1 Jean Darnall (Darnell) was born in about 1923—13 years after the story was 
to have taken place. What Tom Welchel testifies to is that the story is true but 
that he could be mistaken about who the little girl was. After 40 years of 
storing the stories in his memory, he told the story as he believed it to be 
true.  The facts as we now know them are that the little girl was not Jean 
Darnall.  The story of the child was told by Jean Darnall.  The story might 
have been about her mother or someone close to her, but we are certain it 
was not her. Tommy did not err in what he remembered. He erred initially by 
assuming that the story was about Jean.  He has believed that to be true for 
40 years. http://azusastories.com/id79.html accessed March 2012 P.S.F. 

http://azusastories.com/id79.html


18 

the miracles that were taking place, she liked the atmosphere. 
But, what young Jean liked most was that in a few minutes after 
entering the room, Mom would find her seat and Jean would be 
able to crawl under the pew, get comfortable, and take a nap. 
This toddler had also become comfortable with the thick mist 
that filled the room. Being in a playful mood when she woke 
up from her nap, she would try to gather the mist into her 
arms. She loved the cloud that filled the Azusa Street 
Warehouse for almost three and one-half years during what is 
now historically called the Azusa Street Revival. It would be a 
few years before Jean was old enough to understand that she 
was trying to capture the Shekinah Glory of God. As a mere 
child, Jean literally breathed the Shekinah Glory into her 
young, developing lungs. She experienced Azusa through the 
eyes and mind of a young toddler. Although her mind could 
not comprehend all that was going on around her, she knew 
she was in a very special place among some very special 
people at a very special time. As Jean grew older, she would 
learn of the miracles and Presence of God in the form of the 
Shekinah Glory—so thick during those meetings—where she 
found comfort under the pew. She would be able to tie 
together the experiences recalled by family and friends with 
the experiences her heart captured but her mind was unable 
to comprehend at that tender age. When I met Jean Darnell, it 
was the early sixties, and I was a somewhat permanent fixture 
at Pisgah. A dark haired woman, with a few streaks of grey 
accenting her attractiveness, Sister Darnell was quiet and soft-
spoken, standing about five feet and four inches. As a man in 
my early twenties, I found her quite attractive. Even though 
she was now in her sixties, she looked like a woman twenty 
years younger. Anyone one that met her fell in love with her 
sweet, gentle nature. 
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I share her story as an Azusa Saint not so much for what she 
recalled at Azusa nor what she did during this great revival. 
She was far too young to remember much of what she had 
experienced. She makes it into this historic record because of 
her testimony. Her stories authenticate the Shekinah Glory 
and the impact it had on her life. She also was the person who 
told me something forty years ago that is now finding 
fulfilment on this one-hundredth anniversary of the Azusa 
Street Revival. God had some mighty plans for many of the 
children and youth who were touched by the revival and were 
participants in the Shekinah Glory experience. 
Throughout this book, you will be introduced to Azusa youth 
such as Jean Darnell—youth who later became spiritual 
giants. The impact of Azusa would be life-long for Sister 
Darnell. Her exposure to God and His mighty works would 
continue throughout her youth as her mother took her to 
meetings such as those at the mission on Eighth and Maple 
led by Frank Bartleman. Although the great Shekinah Glory 
was unique to Azusa, young Miss Darnell loved the time she 
spent at Eighth and Maple. 
Sister Darnell would become Pastor Darnell when in 1944, 
she found herself to be the successor to the pulpit of the 
famed Aimee Semple-McPherson at Angelus Temple. I 
personally had attended many of her meetings at Angelus 
Temple and marvelled at her anointing when she preached 
the Word of God. 
Although Pastor Jean was not as demonstrative as Aimee 
Semple-McPherson, she was in many ways a better preacher. 
Normally quiet and soft-spoken, when she began to preach or 
teach, an anointing would come upon her and you could feel 
God‘s power within her. I will never forget what it was like to 
have Pastor Jean pray for me and lay her hands on my head. 
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Whenever she laid hands on me and prayed for me, I felt the 
Spirit of God through her touch and tender words. 
This mighty preacher of God would often talk of her 
experience at Azusa and about the Shekinah Glory that she 
had fallen in love with and tried to capture as a toddler. That 
experience was so profound that it would be a part of her 
very soul. It was as if the air she breathed in that old 
warehouse was a Baptism of God‘s Spirit that sealed her 
destiny to serve God with all her might. Pastor Darnell had 
taken a special liking to some of the young people around 
Pisgah, including me. 
Whenever she came to Pisgah to speak, she always made it a 
point to come early to spend time with some of my friends 
and me. Because of her willingness to talk with us on a 
personal level, I had the privilege of knowing and spending 
time with Pastor Darnell on several occasions. Once, when I 
asked her why she chose to spend time with Mike and me, she 
said, ―You two men are very young, but you know what you 
are doing and you know God!‖ 
Coming from her lips, I took that as a great compliment. My 
relationship with Pastor Darnell was one that I cherish to this 
day. Her compassion and care were instrumental in helping me 
develop as a young Christian. Today, I have no doubt that God 
ordained our relationship. In fact, Pastor Darnell is indirectly 
responsible for this book being written forty years later.  
In 1966, the Full Gospel Businessmen‘s Fellowship was 
having its international convention at Angelus Temple and 
was planning to celebrate the sixtieth anniversary of the 
Azusa Street Revival. 
Demos Shakarian, the founder of the Full Gospel 
Businessmen‘s Fellowship, had come to Pisgah to talk to 
Brother Smith, who oversaw the Pisgah ministry. Shakarian 
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wanted to get some of the Azusa Saints who were living at 
Pisgah to come to Angelus Temple and tell their stories. 
Jean Darnell, the pastor of Angelus Temple, came to Pisgah. 
While waiting for some envelopes to be addressed that she 
had ordered from Herald of Hope, she visited with some of 
the Azusa Saints about coming and telling their stories at the 
convention. One of the Saints Pastor Jean talked to was 
Lucille, her former secretary. She explained what Shakarian 
was wanting and Lucille told Pastor Darnell, ―If you really 
want to know all the stories, all you need to do is to get 
Brother Tommy Welchel to go to the convention and tell the 
stories. He knows all the stories down pat.‖ Then Sister 
Carney, who we will introduce in the next chapter, said, ―He 
knows them better than we do.‖ Jean Darnell left these Saints 
and came over to the Herald of Hope where I worked to pick 
up some envelopes I was addressing for her. As she drove 
over, she pondered what she had been told about me and my 
knowledge of the stories about Azusa, and during a time of 
prayer, the Lord spoke to her concerning my future. I came 
out to put the addressed envelopes in her car, and while she 
was getting out of the car to open the trunk, she called for 
me. Her words were simple but stunning. ―Brother Tommy, 
come over here; I have a word from the Lord for you. The 
Lord is showing me that all these stories that the Azusa Street 
Saints have been telling you, and you have been learning and 
memorizing will someday be put into a book.‖ I thanked her 
for the word from God, but never intentionally tried to make 
it happen. I told a few of the Saints and Brother Smith about 
Pastor Darnell‘s word from God, but other than that, I just 
kept her words in my heart. I want to be clear that I did not 
personally seek out anyone to write these stories. In fact I was 
surprised when my pastors suggested that we make a record 
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of these accounts. When we began to record the stories, I 
finally told one of my pastors about the prophesy from forty 
years ago. God is not slack in His promises. His revelation to 
Pastor Darnell now finds fulfilment according to His perfect 
timetable. 

In The Beginning  
Meet Sister Carney  Azusa Age: 17  
The police officers were polite, yet firm. ―Either shut it down 
or rent a place like a regular church or auditorium. You have 
gotten too big to continue to meet at this home.‖ 
This revival meeting began as a small gathering led by William 
Seymour in a home on Bonnie Brae Street. It now flowed out 
to the front yard, the neighbours‘ yards and onto the street as 
Brother Seymour preached from the porch of this small home 
in the Los Angeles area. Seymour had been warned several 
times before and realized that he needed a much larger 
gathering place. The power of God was evident as the crowd 
grew larger and larger each passing day. He had been looking 
for a place to meet and had found an abandoned warehouse 
that at one time was used as a Methodist Church. The 
warehouse was perfect, and the only thing that was keeping 
Seymour from renting the building was money. 
That night, the need to move was heavy on Seymour‘s heart. 
He prayed to God for direction and before the evening was 
over, he had received his answer. God instructed him to get 
on a trolley car as soon as the service ended and to go to 
Pasadena. 
True to God‘s leadership, Seymour didn‘t argue, but rather, 
headed for Pasadena where it was illegal for blacks like 
Brother Seymour, to be after dark. He rode the trolley until 
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God instructed him to get off, and then followed as God 
directed him to an apartment nearby. 
Sister Carney, just a teenager but married, had arrived in 
Pasadena earlier that day. She was to meet with several of her 
friends who had been members of the First Baptist Church 
until they had received the Baptism of the Holy Spirit. 
Somehow that didn‘t fit Baptist doctrine. This evening they 
were coming together to pray for revival. Meeting together 
for months now in the apartment of one of the members of 
the group, this particular evening these ladies continued in 
fervent prayer for several hours. They were certain that God 
was about to do something big in the Los Angeles area. 
Just after 10:00 p.m., God brought together two elements of a 
force that, when joined together, would usher in one of the 
greatest manifestations of God ever experienced by man since 
the birth of Christ. Seymour walked up to the apartment that 
God had led him to and knocked on the door. Sister Carney 
remembers the time to be about 10:30 p.m. The ladies went 
to the door together and when they opened the door found a 
black man, blind in one eye, standing before them. For many 
people in that day and in that area, a black man showing up at 
their door late at night would have been a sign to slam the 
door and call the police. But that night, God was in charge. 
The owner of the apartment, with some apprehension, asked, 
―Can I help you?‖ The answer to this simple, and somewhat 
fretful question would startle and astonish those gathered for 
prayer. After several months of fervent prayer, God 
responded in an unusual manner. Seymour replied, ―You‘re 
praying for revival, right?‖ When the ladies responded with a 
unanimous ―yes,‖ Seymour made a bold statement: ―I‘m the 
man God has sent to preach that revival.‖ Without hesitation, 
the ladies invited Seymour in. 
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After some exciting chatter, he preached to them and took up 
an offering that was more than enough to rent the Azusa 
Street Warehouse. This story is told to introduce Sister 
Carney. The prayer meeting that evening and those present at 
the meeting were not coincidental. God had been preparing 
many for the miracle of Azusa. Without this ordained 
meeting, Azusa may have never happened and the meeting 
would have never taken place had it not been for the work of 
Sister Carney. Her story begins two years prior to Azusa. In 
1904, Brother Lankford, whose story you will read later, 
returned from attending Bible school in Topeka, Kansas, 
which was under the leadership of Charles Parham. 
Coming back to Pisgah, Lankford met with Dr Yoakum, the 
founder of Pisgah, and introduced him to the infilling of the 
Holy Spirit with the evidence of speaking in other tongues. 
Dr Yoakum immediately embraced this teaching and began to 
share this experience with all that came to his meetings. While 
attending services at Pisgah, at the young age of fifteen, and 
already married, Sister Carney responded to Dr Yoakum‘s 
teaching and was one of the first to receive the Baptism of the 
Holy Spirit. 
In 1904, her love for the Lord and her desire to introduce 
others to the exciting experience of being filled with the Holy 
Spirit led her to Pasadena. There she witnessed to several of 
her friends who were members of the First Baptist Church. 
By 1906, these ladies had been asked to leave the Baptist 
Church because of their beliefs. Unknown to them, God was 
setting the stage for a miraculous work of the Holy Spirit. 
When I met Sister Carney in the early sixties, she was in her 
mid-seventies, standing about five feet, nine inches tall with a 
slender build of about 130 pounds. She was a typical little old 
granny, with a glory bun sitting on top of her grey hair. She 
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walked slowly with short steps always wearing a pleasant 
smile. She had an older face with a little pointed chin and 
when she smiled her lips kind of sunk in. She still wore those 
flowery dresses ladies wore at the turn of the century. And 
yes, she wore granny boots—those little boots with little 
hooks and eyes. About every third Monday night, I would 
walk to Sister Carney‘s apartment. As I approached her home, 
I would smell the enticing aroma of fresh baked chocolate 
chip cookies waiting for me. I had the privilege once a month 
of sitting at Sister Carney‘s feet on a small throw rug in front 
of her wooden rocker. While eating cookies and drinking a 
cold glass of milk, I listened to her tell her Azusa stories like 
the one that begins this chapter. Appreciated by everyone 
because she could tell the stories of Azusa in detail better than 
anyone, Sister Carney was also one of my favourite 
storytellers. Although she normally had a little high-pitched 
voice, when she told her stories, her voice was soothing, yet 
filled with excitement. 
The story we began with concerning the start of Azusa didn‘t 
end there. In the beginning, Sister Carney, then 17 years old, 
was there. In fact Mrs Carney was there from raising the rent 
for the building, to the first day they entered to clean the 
building, until they padlocked the door. 
Sister Carney told of those first days at Azusa Street with an 
excitement that had stayed with her for over sixty years. Even 
with the money Seymour raised for the rent from Sister 
Carney and her friends, the old, dingy white warehouse still 
needed a lot of physical labour to get it ready for use. 
Sister Carney and her friends from the apartment joined the 
group from Bonnie Brae to prepare the dirty, cluttered 
building to serve as a worship centre. They removed all sorts 
of junk that had accumulated through the years. The 
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warehouse had even been used as a barn, housing all sorts of 
animals, and with the animals came mounds of animal waste. 
Sister Carney recalls that Brother Seymour assigned each of 
the volunteers an area to clean. With a warm smile, she told 
how grateful she was for the task of cleaning up the area that 
housed the small goats with their small droppings rather than 
cleaning up after the horses and cattle. After cleaning out the 
warehouse, the volunteers gathered and set up wooden fruit 
crates they had found thrown away behind the nearby grocery 
store. They placed 2 by 12 planks, twelve feet long to serve as 
benches throughout the meeting room. With only meagre 
funds and their ingenuity, these volunteers laboured side by 
side until the meeting place was ready to be used however 
God desired to use it—thankful that God had provided them 
a place large enough to house the anticipated services. During 
one of those Monday night meetings, I asked Sister Carney, 
―What miracle do you remember that happened through 
you?‖ She smiled and her lips kind of sunk in as the 
excitement welled up inside her. ―It was the woman who 
caught her husband with another woman. She had gotten into 
a fight with her and the adulterous woman bit off her ear.‖ 
Sister Carney was smiling but I laughed out loud. She gently 
chided me for laughing and said, ―Brother Tommy, it‘s not 
funny to catch your husband with another woman and then 
for the two of them get to fighting and then the other woman 
bites the wife‘s ear off.‖ 
Here‘s the story as I recall: When the wife entered the 
meeting room, she was holding a bloody bandage to the side 
of her head. Sister Carney noticed she appeared to be in 
tremendous pain and went over to minister to her. While 
waiting for Seymour to come down and the meeting to begin, 
Sister Carney asked her what had happened, and the lady told 
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her about the fight. She told her that she didn‘t have the ear 
with her, and Sister Carney reached over and kind of pulled 
the bandage off to see the wound that basically looked like a 
bloody, raw piece of meat. Without hesitation, she began to 
pray for the woman. After praying for her, the lady said that 
the pain was gone so Sister Carney looked at her wound 
again, and to her astonishment, right before her very eyes, a 
brand new ear began to grow out. Sister Carney sat there with 
her mouth open and simply exclaimed, ―Oh my God!‖ This 
wasn‘t the first miracle that Sister Carney witnessed, but it was 
the first one she witnessed as a result of God working 
through her own prayers. As she told me this story, she 
recalled it as if the miracle had just happened the night before. 
I asked Sister Carney about other miracles she witnessed or 
participated in. With a smile and a twinkle in her eyes, she 
talked about the mighty works of God. According to Sister 
Carney, many people were there in wheelchairs and cots 
brought in from the hospitals around the area. Often, before 
Seymour would come downstairs or even when he was sitting 
with the box on his head, Sister Carney and others would go 
to the sick and crippled and pray for them, and they would 
get their healing. She and the others would go to those in 
wheelchairs, pull up the footrests, pray for them, and then 
watch them walk off, pushing their empty wheelchairs. 
One of these wheelchair healings stayed with Sister Carney in 
a special way. One man had heavy braces on his legs and had 
not walked in years. She recalls that the wheelchair he was in 
had wheels made of wood. She prayed for him, and he was 
miraculously healed. His name was Brother Aubrey, and he 
was pastor of a big church in Los Angeles. I actually got to 
meet him because he would come to Pisgah to see his 
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precious Sister Carney because she was the one who had 
prayed for him when he was healed at Azusa. 
During one visit to Pisgah in the sixties, Brother Aubrey 
shared his version of the healing miracle:  
Sister Carney didn‘t say a word to him. She just walked up, 
pulled the footrests up, put his foot down, then got the other 
foot, lifted it up—remember his legs had very heavy braces 
on them—then laid it down. Next, she told him to get up and 
walk, but Aubrey told her he couldn‘t walk because of the 
heavy braces. Sister Carney responded by getting the people 
with him to take off his braces so he could walk. They did, 
and he did! He got up and walked.  
I was amazed at the story and asked Sister Carney about how 
many miracles God had used her to personally perform. She 
told me that God blessed her by using her two to three times 
a day the three to four days she attended each week. That‘s six 
to eight miracles a week for over three and one-half years. 
Sister Carney explained that miracles abounded at Azusa. 
People with bones twisted were restored. You could hear 
bones popping and see arms and legs growing out. Our talks 
turned from miracles performed by God through faithful 
saints attending the meetings to the difference in miracles 
when Brother Seymour was preaching. Sister Carney 
explained that when Brother Seymour would come down, 
there were even greater miracles. Seymour never had a set 
pattern, rather he would come down and put the box over his 
head and then later would take the box off when directed by 
God, get up and do what God told him to do. Sometimes, he 
would go to a certain section of wheelchairs or to a certain 
section of cots—the cots were for people who had been 
carried in from the hospital. She explained that to her 
astonishment, Seymour would point at them and say, 
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―Everyone on the cots or wheelchairs, you‘re healed in the 
Name of Jesus.‖ Everyone on the cots or in wheelchairs 
would get up and walk around fully healed of whatever 
malady they suffered from Some of the greatest miracles were 
when the flames were above the building. Bones that were 
cracked and broken were totally healed. 
Our conversation would turn from the miracles performed by 
Seymour to Seymour personally. I wanted to know about this 
great man, and Sister Carney was a treasure chest of 
information. Her story began with the box on his head. 
When Seymour came down to the meeting, he would sit 
down and put a box on his head. At first it startled Sister 
Carney. Sometimes he would sit with the box over his head 
for ten minutes and sometimes it would be an hour or more. 
Although the practice seemed ridiculous, Sister Carney 
realized that he was obeying God, no matter how silly or 
ridiculous it appeared. That apparent act of humble obedience 
led to mighty power when he removed the box. This box and 
act of humility were critical to the power God displayed 
through Brother Seymour. When Brother Smith asked Sister 
Carney what caused the miracles and Azusa to stop, she 
replied, ―It stopped when Brother Seymour stopped putting 
that box over his head. When he quit coming down and 
putting the box on his head, it started dying.‖ Seymour and 
Sister Carney became friends and after Seymour married, 
Sister Carney would often join them for dinner. Even in a 
social setting she would feel the anointing on Seymour. She 
recalled that Seymour was very pleasant to be around. He was 
a humble man who always had a gleam in his eye, a smile on 
his face, and a deep, resonating voice. There was no question 
about his anointing of God. She recalled that if you touched 
Seymour, a kind of electricity would shock you. The current 
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was so strong that the first time she touched him during a 
meeting she almost passed out. 
Of course, any discussion about Azusa turned to the Shekinah 
Glory. When I asked about her experience with the Presence 
of God‘s Spirit, Sister Carney‘s face would light up. She 
described it as being a part of heaven. To her, it was like 
breathing pure oxygen, and to her wonderment, it was always 
present. 
When I asked her to describe the Shekinah Glory Fire 
reported by many, she told her story. She recalled the fire 
department coming because of a call that the building was on 
fire. When they arrived, they didn‘t smell any smoke or see 
any evidence of fire. She didn‘t run out with the firemen. She 
remembered that it was Seymour, Bosworth, Lake, Smith, and 
Sines that ran out. 
Sister Carney did go out one time to see the flames for 
herself. Remember, the fire department had been called on 
several different occasions, as passers-by would report seeing 
flames leaping up from the roof of the building. Finally, Sister 
Carney asked John Lake why the fire department kept coming 
and looking for the fire. He explained that the fire was 
coming down from heaven into the building and fire was 
going up from the building and meeting the fire coming 
down. Fascinated, Sister Carney went out, walked about a half 
a block and saw the awesome sight for herself. To her, this 
divine connection of fire coming down from heaven and 
going up to heaven was just further evidence of God‘s mighty 
Presence in that place. Sister Carney noted that although the 
Shekinah Glory was present all the time within the building, 
this divine connection wasn‘t an everyday occurrence. 
Whenever this connection was present, the power of God 
was even more intense within the meeting. Sister Carney was 
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a wealth of information. As we talked, she would mention 
some of the other young people she had associated with at 
Azusa. She was not the only young person running around 
being used of God to perform His miracles. She was kind of a 
team with C.W. Ward and Ralph Riggs, and she would invite 
them to go with her as new people arrived and see if they 
could minister to them. These young men were around 13 or 
14 years old, partnering with Sister Carney, going through the 
crowd, wanting to be used by God to perform miracles and 
help people get healed. These were kids running around 
having a ball, praying over people and looking for people who 
needed healing. (These two young men would later become 
the founders of The Assemblies of God Church, the largest 
Pentecostal Movement in the United States and the world.) 
Sister Carney was also very close to John G. Lake, who had 
received the Baptism up in Zion, Illinois, and came to Azusa 
as a young man to see what was happening. He later became a 
great missionary and was used mightily in South Africa. She 
also recounts her friendship with Brother Fox while he was at 
Azusa for about a year and one-half when he was around 
eighteen years old. Brother Fox later became a missionary in 
India. In fact, Fox came back to the States and Pisgah around 
1963. He had retired from the mission field and settled at 
Pisgah, where the friendships with Sister Carney and other 
Azusa Saints were renewed. Sister Carney is what I would call 
an Azusa legacy. She validates the mighty workings of God 
and the Presence of His Glory through the eyes of a young 
person in her late teens. Not only was she there as an 
eyewitness observer, she was also a vital participant in this 
awesome work of God. Her excitement and enthusiasm as 
she relived these stories with me each month allowed me to 
experience Azusa through her eyes. Truly, like John the 
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Apostle*, she shared with me that which she had heard, she 
had touched with her hands, had seen with her own eyes, and 
experienced in her own heart from the beginning.  *1 John 
1:1  

A Modern Day Zacchaeus  
Meet Brother Anderson  Azusa age: 15  
The Azusa Street Warehouse filled quickly in anticipation of 
seeing and hearing Brother Seymour as he proclaimed the 
Word of God. The crowds had grown from a handful of 
faithful followers to hundreds now gathering several times a 
day to witness and experience the miracles of Azusa and the 
anointing of Brother Seymour.  
Among those attending was a fifteen-year-old named Brother 
Anderson, who attended the Azusa Street Revival faithfully. 
He was one of first to receive the Baptism of the Holy Spirit 
at Azusa and be a part of this mighty work of God. Although 
he was just a few inches under six feet tall, when the crowd 
gathered, Brother Anderson often found it difficult to see 
what was happening throughout the building as miracles were 
being performed by many of his teenage friends. 
The sight of Brother Anderson climbing on top of the 
benches was not uncommon. Like Zaccaeus of old who 
climbed into a Sycamore tree to get a better view of Jesus, 
Anderson wanted a better vantage point to witness the 
marvels and moves of God.  
I met Brother Anderson at Pisgah where we became great 
friends. Whenever I would see him, whether at church or at 
his home, Brother Anderson would see me coming a block 
away and would come bouncing down the street saying, 
―Well, Brother Tommy! I‘m so glad to see you.‖ And I was 
always glad to see him! Brother Anderson had a medium build 
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and shiny eyes that glowed. His slicked back, grey, balding 
hair accented his ruddy complexion. You could recognize him 
two miles away because of the bounce to his walk. 
Perhaps his most memorable characteristic was that he always 
had a beautiful smile on his face and was always bubbly and 
happy. In all the years I knew him, never once did I ever see 
him frown.  
I had the privilege of going to Brother Anderson‘s home 
about once a month on Thursday evenings. I would be at 
least a block away when he would bounce out to meet me 
halfway and welcome me to his home. Unlike the ladies, 
Brother Anderson didn‘t have homemade cookies—his were 
store-bought—but he‘d have cold milk and cookies waiting 
for me. 
I still remember the way he would dress. He would have on a 
plain, long-sleeved shirt buttoned all the way up including the 
top button and always tucked in. He wore slippers and regular 
slacks with a belt rather than suspenders. Out of respect, I 
would sit at his feet on a barren wooden floor as he settled 
into his vinyl-covered rocking chair. Perhaps ―settled in‖ is 
not quite the way to describe this adventure. He didn‘t really 
sit in his chair; he would sit on the edge of it. When he began 
to tell his stories, he would throw his hands up, bounce in his 
chair, and excitedly explain different miracles he had seen or 
prayed for at Azusa.  
The image of Brother Anderson and his home live in my 
memory. Here is this old man, living in a sparsely decorated 
apartment, with few furnishings. One picture hanging on the 
wall that stood out was of John G. Lake and Brother 
Anderson side by side—a picture taken about sixty years 
earlier. Although his possessions were few, this man was rich 
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in priceless memories and invaluable experiences that gold 
could never buy.  
―Tell me again about your days at Azusa.‖ I would begin the 
discussion and Brother Anderson would come to the edge of 
his chair and begin to bounce as he began his stories. 
Many times he would begin with his own personal experience. 
Although he was born-again before attending Azusa, there he 
received the gift of speaking in tongues shortly after the 
revival began. He recalls that when he began to speak in 
tongues, he would do so in a loud voice, as if someone had 
turned up his volume. As soon as he blared out ―tongues,‖ to 
his amazement and shock, someone interpreted what he was 
saying. When recalling the entire experience, he would 
describe it as being in heaven. He longed to see another 
revival like Azusa. From tongues to healings was a logical 
progression. I always wanted to know about the miracles the 
Azusa Saints had been a part of. Brother Anderson told me 
that many who were blind and deaf were healed and that he 
was a part of many of those healings. Some were older 
people, some were middle age, and some were young—
teenagers just like him. If he wasn‘t part of the miracle 
happening, he was most likely standing on a bench watching 
other miracles happen. He told me that he was only about 
fifteen years old and had attended Azusa about ten times 
when God first used him in helping people receive healing. 
A young man, not much older than Brother Anderson, had a 
clubfoot and when he entered the meeting, he tried to hide 
his disfigurement. He explained to Brother Anderson that he 
didn‘t want people feeling sorry for him. 
Brother Anderson asked the young man, ―Are you aware of 
the Shekinah Glory? We are in the miracles of God. You 
don‘t have to have this.‖ He went on to explain to the young 
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man that Jesus, when He died on Calvary, got 39 stripes on 
His back, and they were for his healing. 
The young man replied, ―But that was for sickness and 
disease; I just have my foot turned sideways.‖ Brother 
Anderson replied, ―God will heal it! You should see some of 
the miracles here.‖ The young man finally believed a miracle 
was possible, and Brother Anderson began to pray for him. 
To their astonishment, shortly after the prayer, the foot didn‘t 
just pop out, but rather it just started to slowly move outward. 
In a matter of minutes, the young man was jumping, running, 
and shouting. The foot had been deformed since he was a 
young child, and it had just gotten worse as he had gotten 
older. Yet, in just a few minutes, the foot was healed and 
perfectly formed. Brother Anderson was right behind this 
young man dancing and shouting also. This may have been 
the first time God used Brother Anderson to work a 
miraculous healing through faith and prayer, but it was far 
from the last. Brother Anderson recalls praying for a woman 
much older than him with a big knot just above her wrist. She 
didn‘t know what it was, but it hurt. When he asked her about 
the pain, she told him that she couldn‘t even work at home. 
Rather than lifting, she would scoot things with her arm. 
Brother Anderson told her that she didn‘t have to do that, 
because Jesus would heal her. He reached out, barely touched 
the knot and said, ―In the Name of Jesus, be healed.‖ In 
seconds, the knot was gone. Immediately, she got so excited 
that she started doing a dance right there on the spot, and 
Brother Anderson became her dance partner. 
I was captivated by his stories. I asked him about the greatest 
or most unusual healing or miracle he had witnessed, and he 
told of a miracle that left me full of wonder. A younger 
woman named Diane, maybe in her late teens or early 
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twenties, with two young children, walked into the revival 
meeting with her hand supporting a large growth or tumour 
about half the size of a basketball on the side of her head. She 
looked pitiful. 
Before she could even get seated, people, including Brother 
Anderson, started surrounding her. Anderson told the woman 
that God was going to work a miracle for her. She kind of 
rolled her head and her eyes but didn‘t say a word. She came 
to get a miracle, and all she could do was nod her head ―yes.‖ 
As the people began to lay hands on her, the tumour or 
growth began to shrink. The woman was speechless; standing 
there gasping and finally yelled ―I‘m Healed!‖ Through the 
Grace of God, I got to meet Sister Diane while I was at 
Pisgah in the Sixties. She wasn‘t obese, but she wasn‘t a little 
woman. She stood just under six feet tall with a broad face 
and a marvellous spirit. I asked her about the healing, and 
here was what she shared with me. She had heard that things 
like miracles were happening at the Azusa Street Warehouse. 
She even saw the flames going up and coming down. So, she 
thought to herself, ―What have I got to lose? I‘m dying and if 
I go there, and I die, so what! The doctors can‘t do anything. 
They can‘t operate because it is too big to cut off.‖ 
―So,‖ she says, ―I waddled myself down to Azusa, holding my 
growth in my hands.‖ A little embarrassed, she walked into 
the meeting and shortly after, the miracle happened. She 
remembered Brother Anderson being right in the middle of 
the miracle and just fell in love with him. That miracle not 
only saved her life but propelled her into a ministry that 
would impact thousands of people over the years. With just 
25 cents to her name, she started a soup kitchen when she 
was in her early twenties and was still serving soup to the 
needy and downtrodden when I met her. 
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Of course, I wanted to know more about Brother Seymour, 
and Brother Anderson was more than willing to oblige. He 
loved when Brother Seymour would come down to the 
service. Young Anderson would sit near him and try to peek 
under the box to see if Seymour was praying at all. He would 
lean as far down as possible to try to see, but he could never 
see under the box. 
Sometimes, Seymour would sit for ten minutes and 
sometimes for over an hour, doing nothing but sitting with 
the box over his head. During that time, Anderson would 
spend the same amount of time fascinated by the box and 
watching Brother Seymour to see even if his hands or feet 
moved. Young Anderson remembers that much like a statue, 
Seymour sat perfectly still during almost all of the time he was 
under the box. Brother Anderson was in awe of Brother 
Seymour. He told me that Seymour was one of the sweetest 
men he had ever met. Tradition tells us than when Seymour 
got married to Jenny Moore, two women got upset because 
they felt he didn‘t have time for marriage with the return of 
Christ so eminent. 
These ladies got so upset that they stole his mailing list and 
ran off to Portland. That incident really upset young 
Anderson. Anderson was so enamoured of Seymour that he 
tried to imitate him. A few times he would get up and say, 
―Everybody in this section that needs healing stand up and be 
healed.‖ Anderson learned very quickly that what God had 
blessed Seymour with could not be duplicated except as God 
willed, so Anderson would go back to laying hands on those 
needing miracles. Young Anderson believed that Seymour 
was a man of faith who never doubted anything. Every time 
he opened his mouth and said something, it happened. I 
learned from Brother Anderson that Seymour was a brilliant 
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preacher. Anderson watched how Seymour spoke. Seymour 
would come out with phrases that were so intelligent and yet 
simple enough that the most uneducated could understand 
him. Anderson told me that the wisdom of this man was 
phenomenal. 
The greatest thing that impressed Anderson was when the 
Spirit would fall on Seymour and he would start working the 
gifts. Anderson would get up on the benches so he could see 
Seymour talking to the people. There were quite a few times 
that there were people with what looked like rheumatoid 
arthritis, and Seymour would point to maybe a dozen of them 
and say, ―You want to see a miracle over there? Everyone of 
you within a few minutes are going to be up and walking in 
the Name of Jesus.‖ And every one of them—you could hear 
their bones popping—would be up shouting as their legs and 
arms and hands straightened out. 
A few times Anderson witnessed Seymour perform one-on-
one healings. One such healing stood out in Anderson‘s 
memory. A man whose face was deformed with small 
growths all over his face came to Bother Seymour. The 
deformed man looked very homely and ugly. Brother 
Seymour prayed for him, and immediately the growths began 
to fall off his face, restoring his face and making him whole. 
Perhaps the most stunning detail is that volunteers had to 
come and clean up those growths that had fallen from the 
man‘s face to the floor. As long as Seymour was there, young 
Anderson didn‘t shout or dance. His eyes were totally focused 
on Seymour. 
Anderson confirmed that this power stayed with Seymour 
until the time he stopped placing the box over his head. 
Anderson told me that when Seymour stopped putting the 
box on his head, it was the first time he was ever disappointed 
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in the man. Anderson felt that Seymour had surrendered to 
the pressure of the people rather than staying obedient to 
God. After talking about Seymour, the transition to the 
Shekinah Glory was logical. I asked Brother Anderson to 
describe what the Shekinah Glory was like, and he again 
brightened up as he came to the edge of his rocker. Anderson 
told me that the Shekinah Glory was hard to explain because 
it could only be described, but not understood. At times he 
would come into the building, and there would be kind of a 
glow. There were times that God would start moving and 
working, and a smoke-like substance would begin to glow 
even brighter. People could walk through it, and sometimes it 
would sort of roll. You couldn‘t take a fan and blow it out, 
nor was it something you could pick up. Brother Anderson 
confessed that he tried because it looked so tangible. He 
remembered that at times the mist would get so thick that it 
would fill the whole building. Anderson also noted that at 
times even Seymour was fascinated with the heavy mist that 
filled the room. In fact, there were times that Seymour would 
take his feet and kind of play with the thick Shekinah Glory. 
Brother Anderson was awed by the Glory and finally 
described it as a part of heaven coming down. You could 
walk in it, sit down in it, run your hands through it, and 
breathe it into your lungs, but you could not capture it. I 
pressed Brother Anderson to tell me about the ―fire.‖ 
Although he was not one of the first to go out and witness 
the event, he told me that he had seen it. He said it looked 
like flames about fifty feet in the air coming down and was 
also going up out of the roof to meet, merge, and go on 
through the flame coming down. Young Anderson would just 
stand there with his mouth open. 
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He didn‘t know how to explain it, but it was real. He told me 
that the burning bush described by Moses now made sense. 
One event, confirmed by others, that Anderson noted was 
that whenever the people worshipped by singing in tongues, 
the power was greater. Every time this happened the 
anointing fell on the service. 
Anderson was absolutely awed by the Shekinah Glory. One of 
the favourite songs sung by the Saints gathered at Pisgah is 
intricately linked with their encounter with God‘s Glory. The 
song that they sang with great enthusiasm was appropriately 
entitled, Heaven Came Down and Glory Filled My Soul. Before the 
stories ended, I wanted to know about the other teenagers 
Anderson hung around with. Much like Sister Carney, 
Anderson also remembered both Ralph Riggs and C.W. Ward 
being a part of the group of young people who went around 
praying for people to be healed and being used by God to 
perform His miracles. 
Anderson recalled a story about Ward that he thought was 
somewhat comical. Ward had a unique way of praying for 
somebody. He would swing his hips and go through all sorts 
of dramatic gestures. It was almost a theatrical production. He 
would do these big long prayers, swing his shoulders and hips, 
and yell out ―In the Name of Jesus.‖ 
I asked Brother Anderson if God used Ward to bless others. 
Anderson would smile and say, ―Well, they did get healed!‖ 
Ward was young just like the rest of them and was going 
through his teenage years. Although his actions may not have 
been orthodox, those years at Azusa prepared both Ward and 
Riggs to be used of God in mighty ways. As I mentioned 
earlier, young Anderson also became good friends with John 
G. Lake. One of Anderson‘s prized possessions was the 
picture of Lake and himself that still hung on his living room 
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wall some sixty years after Azusa. The stories Brother 
Anderson told were first-hand accounts both of his 
observations of what transpired at Azusa and what he actually 
participated in during this great revival when he was just a 
teenager. His vivid recollection of the miracles and the 
Shekinah Glory that he witnessed validates the great 
outpouring of God‘s Spirit for over three years, beginning in 
1906. Brother Anderson allowed me to experience Azusa 
through his eyes and captured for me the excitement and awe 
of this unprecedented revival. My prayer echoes the prayer of 
Brother Anderson that someday soon we will experience the 
outpouring of God like during the days of Azusa 

When Music Filled The Air  
Meet Brother Sines and Brother Christopher    Azusa Ages: 26 and 18  
Seymour was unpredictable. Once he took the box off his 
head, everyone knew that something was about to happen—
they just never knew what was next. Many times Seymour 
would take the box off, get up and instruct the people to sing 
a certain song. The melodious sound of hundreds of people 
blending their voices was a bit of heaven. Seymour would sit 
and sing with them, his eyes closed as if the music itself were 
an offering to God.  
Soon after the singing started, Seymour would instruct the 
people to ―Sing in the Spirit.‖ Whenever that happened, 
heaven itself came down and filled the room. The music was 
beyond description, pure yet powerful. 
This heavenly music became known as a ―new song‖ as the 
crowd began to sing in a heavenly language, sometimes in 
tongues, sometimes without words. At times it seemed as if 
angels joined in the singing. ―Singing in the Spirit‖ was a new 
song led by the Spirit of God. Although singing in the Spirit 
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was already a part of many of the services, when Brother 
Sines and Christopher became part of the leadership team, the 
heavenly music was enhanced. With the addition of piano and 
violin, the new heavenly song went beyond the ordinary to 
the extraordinary.  
Brother Sines was about 26 years old when he came to the 
Azusa Revival in about 1907. A bit older than the youth we 
have been sharing about in this book but still quite young to 
be a part of the leadership team that led the services. 
I met Sines at Pisgah in 1960. I stayed in a three-story men‘s 
dormitory where Sines was Dormitory Director for all the 
single men staying at Pisgah. He stood about five feet, nine 
inches tall, and was heavyset but not obese. When I met him, 
he walked stooped over a little bit but didn‘t use a cane. I can 
still see his receding hairline—about one-third of it grey—his 
dark eyes and a good–sized nose.  
Like the others, I would go to Brother Sine‘s room about 
once a month. I would sit at his feet, and while munching on 
chocolate chip cookies and drinking some cold milk, listen to 
his stories about Azusa. He had a mild, pleasant voice and 
spoke softly. 
Unlike the others, I had a deal with Sines that I would come 
and clean his apartment if he would tell me his stories. True 
to my word, I would first mop his floors with a dry mop and 
then with a wet mop. The floors were covered with linoleum 
so they were easy to clean. When I was finished, we would sit 
down and Sines would tell his stories.  
A concert pianist, Brother Sines was all about music and 
fondly recalled his role in the music at Azusa. Seymour would 
lift the box from his head and often ask Sines to begin singing 
a certain hymn or song. At first, Sines would begin the song 
and lead the crowd in singing the request of Seymour. Later 
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on, Sines brought his own piano to the meeting place and 
when he was instructed to sing, he would begin playing the 
song on his piano and leading the music. Without sheet music 
or a hymnal, whatever song Seymour wanted, Sines would 
sing and play the song from memory. 
Sines recalled with joy the experience of singing in the Spirit. 
He remembered that virtually every time Seymour instructed 
them to ―Sing in the Spirit,‖ something wonderful and 
beyond understanding would happen. The music would rise 
to a new level, and the sound that came from Azusa was like a 
heavenly choir singing.  
I asked Brother Sines about the miracles at Azusa and if he 
personally was ever involved in them. He would smile and in 
his soft voice, begin to share with me his first and favourite 
miracle. Seymour had not yet come down to the meeting. 
Sines was on the platform leading the crowd in songs when 
he saw a young crippled boy on crutches sitting off to the side 
unnoticed by those going about the crowd performing 
miracles. Sines came down from the platform, approached the 
young boy and asked him why no one was ministering to him. 
The little boy shrugged his shoulders with a kind of ―I don‘t 
know‖ shrug and said, ―I‘m just waiting for someone to come 
over and pray for me.‖ Sines asked the child, ―Do you believe 
that God is going to heal you?‖ The boy, with a look of 
anticipation on his face, said, ―Why, yes!‖ Sines took the 
crutches from him, laid them down on the floor, and then laid 
hands on the boy and prayed for him. 
At first, nothing happened, but then the boy began to 
exclaim, ―I feel it, I feel it,‖ leaping to his feet, dancing, 
running, and shouting with Sines right behind him. Sines 
would tell me about other miracles, but none were so 
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engraved in his memory as the joy of seeing this young 
crippled boy healed and so full of joy and thanksgiving.  
Like many others, Sines was drawn to the power and 
anointing God had given Brother Seymour. Unlike others, 
Sines was on the platform with Seymour, and at least fifty per 
cent of the time he was able to sit right next to him. 
Brother Sines was obsessed with ―the box.‖ The reason he 
would try to sit next to Seymour whenever possible was so 
that he could get close enough to the box to see and hear 
what was going on inside. It did not matter if the box was on 
Seymour‘s head ten minutes or one hour, during that time, 
Sines could not pay attention to anything else, observing the 
box and Seymour the entire time. He would sit there thinking, 
―God, are You talking to this man or is he just sitting there 
waiting, listening or meditating?‖ 
When Sines was out eating or fellowshipping with Seymour, 
he would ask him about what was going on in the box. 
Seymour told him that he was meditating, waiting on God. 
Seymour noted that when he would speak to God, he could 
hear himself talk, but it was always a whisper, and always in 
tongues. When Sines asked Seymour if he understood what 
he was saying, Seymour responded that he knew what he had 
said, but he would hear himself say it in a different 
language—yet he still knew what he was saying. Sines recalled 
that there was a glow around the box while it was on 
Seymour‘s head. He observed the glow but told me he dared 
not touch Seymour or the box. He was afraid of what would 
happen. He would lean over as close to the box as possible 
and just listen, but he would never get close enough to 
accidentally come in contact with the glow or the box.  
We talked a little bit about what Sines observed from the 
platform, and he commented on young Ward‘s style and his 
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silly facial expressions. Sines recalled that Ward was comical 
to watch, but that God worked through him in a mighty way. 
He also commented that Brother Anderson must have been 
kin to the kangaroos the way he bounced around. He would 
watch Anderson get so excited that he would climb on a 
bench to see everything. He also noted that Sister Carney was 
the ringleader of it all. She kind of directed the floor events. 
By way of a side note, Sister Carney and Brother Sines were 
the best of friends and spent many hours in the gardens at 
Pisgah talking and reliving Azusa memories.  
Brother Christopher, a young man around 18 years old, joined 
Sines about six months after coming to Azusa. I met 
Christopher while I was at Pisgah and actually lived with him 
at the dorm. I found him to be one of the politest men I‘d 
ever known. He was a very small, frail man, weighing around 
110 pounds, and standing about five feet, five inches tall. By 
the time I met him, he was in his seventies but still had a full 
head of coal black hair. He was somewhat dark-skinned and 
told us he was part Italian. Extremely shy and quiet, Brother 
Christopher didn‘t just talk; you had to pull it out of him. 
He and Sines were great friends and played many concerts 
together. Christopher owned a Stradivarius violin and would 
bring it to Azusa to accompany Sines when he played the 
piano. 
Like Sines, Christopher loved the music at Azusa and 
confirmed that the experience of singing in the Spirit was 
unequalled by anything he had ever experienced in his musical 
career. An accomplished concert violinist equalled by few, he 
would share with me that when he played in the spirit, he 
played at a level he‘d never achieved even in his greatest 
concert.  
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Brother Christopher talked a little about the Shekinah Glory 
and told me that he even tried to bottle it. To his 
disappointment, there was nothing in the bottle the next day. 
Brother Christopher was an observer. Because of his shyness, 
he didn‘t go out into the crowd. Those he was involved with 
when used by God for healing came up to him while he was 
on the platform. Christopher remarked that people must have 
thought he was someone important because he sat on the 
platform. I asked Brother Christopher, ―Did anything happen 
to the people you prayed for?‖ He would quietly say with a 
smile, ―Oh, yes, Brother Tommy, oh, yes.‖ 
He fondly told me about praying for a blind man whose wife 
had brought him to Azusa. The wife led her husband by his 
right hand—his white cane with the red tip in his other hand. 
She brought the man up to Christopher and said, ―My 
husband is blind, heal him.‖ Christopher quietly said, ―I can‘t 
heal him, but I can pray for him and Jesus will heal him.‖ She 
said somewhat demandingly, ―Okay, do it!‖ Brother 
Christopher humbly and obediently prayed for the man and 
he was instantly healed. 
I asked, ―Didn‘t that excite you and make you want to do 
more?‖ Christopher replied, ―Why, yes, I wished more would 
have come to me.‖ 
Brother Christopher told of a young man who had burned his 
arm at work. The arm was badly infected and green with 
gangrene. It was bad—so bad that Brother Christopher said 
that his arm should have been amputated. Christopher prayed 
for him and told him to go home and clean the wound 
because there were things working in his arm—bad stuff—
and then bandage it. The man went home, cleaned and 
bandaged the burn, and came back the next night completely 
healed. Christopher was impressed with the man‘s willingness 
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to be obedient to God‘s instructions and do what he was 
instructed to do. The following evening when the healed man 
returned, Brother Christopher rejoiced with him as they 
celebrated the awesome miracle from God. Although 
Christopher only performed a few miracles because of his 
shyness, they were mighty works of God and bore witness 
that if you were at Azusa and your heart was right, God found 
a way to involve you in His miraculous works. If something 
like shyness kept you from going to the people, God in His 
marvellous ways would bring the people to you. Many times 
while at Pisgah, I had the privilege of hearing Brother Sines 
play the piano and Brother Christopher play his violin. 
Sometimes my mind would wander. I would sit at Pisgah 
wondering what it must have been like to hear them play at 
Azusa when God‘s Spirit took the music to a heavenly realm 
as the people sang a new song in the Spirit. I believe that 
soon, we too will join a heavenly choir and be lifted to a new 
level of worship as we sing in a heavenly atmosphere as God‘s 
Spirit falls upon us. I remember someone writing or saying 
that the music was like the very breath of God coming forth 
from human vocal cords. For now, I can only imagine  

Mother, Behold Thy Son  
Meet Brother Riggs and Mom    Azusa Ages: 12 and 35  
We have talked about how God used youth and young adults 
to manifest many of His miracles. In chapter after chapter, we 
find kids as young as twelve years old being used of God in a 
mighty way. What we haven‘t talked about are the parents of 
these children—how they felt and what they experienced as 
their children were so involved in the Azusa experience. This 
chapter takes a brief detour as we meet not only Ralph Riggs 
but also his mother. 
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I met ―Mother‖ Riggs at Pisgah in 1960. I must confess that 
Mother Riggs made the best chocolate chip cookies, bar none, 
and she made them big and round. 
When she was at Azusa watching her son run around and be 
used of God, she was in her late thirties. By the time I met 
her she was in her nineties. She told me that she mainly 
watched ―Ralphy‖ run around—a nickname that wasn‘t 
Ralph‘s favourite. Mother Riggs told me that Ralph and his 
best friend, C. W. Ward, didn‘t complain that they had to be 
at church. In fact, they preferred to be in church rather than 
anywhere else!  
Don‘t misunderstand; Mother Riggs wasn‘t just a spectator. 
She too was actively involved in healings and miracles and 
spent much of her time with Sister Carney. Although she 
mainly participated with others, God also used her when she 
was by herself. Mother Riggs had bright beady eyes that 
would just glow as she started talking about Azusa and they 
glowed as she told her story. She told me of her experience 
with about a dozen elderly people who reminded her of her 
parents. They were all brought to the meeting in wheelchairs 
and didn‘t have any major deformities or diseases. They were 
just old and feeble. She learned well from Sister Carney about 
expecting miracles, and if anybody in a wheelchair needed to 
be ministered to, she would put the footrests up before she 
prayed for the person. Immediately after the prayer, these 
frail, old people got up, hooked their arms together and began 
to dance. Sister Riggs was so thrilled to see old people up 
dancing and worshipping the Lord that she joined right in. 
She told me that she also prayed for a man because he 
couldn‘t put any weight on his ankle due to the pain. 
Sister Riggs asked him, ―Did you come to be healed?‖ He told 
her, ―Well, everybody is getting healed here they tell me. They 
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just come and they get healed and I want my ankle healed.‖ 
She laid hands on his head and prayed for him. 
Within moments, the ankle that had been twisted popped and 
was healed. He stood up and began to dance and shout, and 
Mother Riggs just marvelled at the miracle. Like all the others, 
Mother Riggs loved the Shekinah Glory. She told me that the 
main thing she missed was the power of the mist or cloud as 
it glowed. She was convinced that the Glory they experienced 
was a part of heaven, and she was walking in it, living in it, 
and breathing it in. 
She was also convinced that the abundance of miracles was 
happening because of the Shekinah Glory and the Presence of 
God in the meetings. I loved her stories and I loved the fact 
that she not only supported her son, but she was right there 
with him as he enjoyed being used by God. On occasion, 
Ralph Riggs would stop by Pisgah to visit with his mom. 
During four of those visits I had the honour of spending time 
with him. As mentioned earlier in this book, Ralph Riggs and 
C.W. Ward founded the Assemblies of God. Even though I 
knew he had stories in abundance about the Assemblies of 
God, I wanted to know about Azusa and his teenage years 
there. Brother Riggs told me that he appreciated the fact that 
he wasn‘t just a spectator watching older people do miracles; 
God also used him to do them. He was given the liberty to go 
to anyone he wanted to and pray for them, and to his 
astonishment they all got healed. He worked with his best 
friend, C.W. Ward, who was two years his senior. Riggs noted 
that each of them had six or more miracles or healings every 
night. When it came to miracles, they weren‘t a team; it was 
every man for himself. 
I asked Brother Riggs about the kids he hung around with at 
Azusa. He told me that Sister Carney was his favourite. He 
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commented, ―You kind of did what she told you to do. No 
one appointed her to be in charge, she just was a natural 
leader.‖ Riggs also told me he loved to talk to and play with 
brother Anderson, and of course there was Brother Ward, his 
best friend. 
When I asked Brother Riggs about his most memorable 
miracles, he shared a few of his many, many experiences. His 
biggest miracle was this big, gawky guy, in his early twenties, 
who stood over six feet, five inches tall and weighed over 250 
pounds. He came into the meeting with alcohol on his breath, 
slurring his words, and reeking of stale alcohol. 
Riggs felt a voice inside of him saying, ―Pray for him.‖ Finally, 
Brother Riggs went over to the man, realized that not only 
had he been drinking but was also blind. Somewhat stunned, 
Riggs looked at him and said, ―You can‘t see, can you?‖ 
The man said, ―No, that‘s what I came here for.‖ Riggs, now 
somewhat more compassionate, prayed for him and he was 
instantly healed. Not only were his eyes healed, even the 
stench of alcohol was gone. The man just sat for a while 
crying and sobbing and finally said, ―Well, it‘s true. It‘s true. 
I‘m healed.‖ 
Here was a homeless, blind, alcoholic restored through the 
miraculous power of God, who later in life was used of God 
to preach revivals and establish many Pentecostal, and later 
on, Assemblies of God Churches across the Midwestern 
United States. Riggs noted that he had the privilege of visiting 
many of these churches in his travels with the Assemblies of 
God.  
Brother Riggs also told of his one and only mass healing. A 
group of people came from a retirement home and had minor 
problems like aching joints. Riggs decided he would try a 
―Seymour‖ and have a mass healing. He looked at them and 
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said, ―Everyone of you are going to be healed in the Name of 
Jesus. Now, all of you be healed!‖ Unlike every other time he 
tried to mimic Seymour but it never worked, this time Riggs 
witnessed a mass healing, as the joints cracked and healed.  
Although God used Brother Riggs in countless miracles, he 
chose to share only one last story. Two people, a husband and 
wife, came down in wheelchairs, pushed by their teenage 
children. They were both very sick and had either pneumonia 
or really bad colds. Brother Ralph went over to them and 
asked, ―Did you come down here tonight believing God is 
actually going to heal you?‖ The husband said, ―Yes.‖ Riggs 
began to pray for them, but he stopped suddenly as he 
remembered the ―Carney Rule.‖ He said to himself, ―Sister 
Carney won‘t let me do that,‖ and put up the footrests before 
finishing his prayer. The stage was now set for God to work a 
miracle. Riggs got between the couple, placed his hands on 
their foreheads, and prayed, commanding them to be healed 
in the Name of Jesus. They both had had terrible fevers and 
the first thing Riggs noticed was that their temperatures had 
gone down. Within moments, the woman began to shake and 
shortly she was up and running. The man just stood up, raised 
his hands and screamed in a very loud voice, ―Thank you 
God; Thank you God.‖ God had healed them instantly. Most 
of the time the Shekinah Glory was spoken of with reverence, 
but there was one time that Brother Riggs shared revealing a 
lighter side. He told me that when Seymour would get down 
there, the Shekinah Glory would get so thick that you could 
hardly see the ground. With a smile, he confessed that there 
were times when it was so thick that he and Ward would get 
in the back of the room and play hide-and-go-seek in the 
mist. 



52 

Since they were just young teenagers when at Azusa, I asked 
him if he ever tried to put Seymour‘s box on his head. He said 
with great reverence, ―Nobody touched Seymour‘s box even 
when he wasn‘t down there. It was sacred.‖  
I asked him to seriously talk to me about the Shekinah Glory. 
Brother Riggs explained the experience much like his mother. 
―I tasted a bit of heaven. Ward and I would talk and share 
that Azusa must have been what Heaven is like. God must 
have sent some part of heaven down here.‖  
Mother Riggs and her son were a joy to talk to and to learn 
even more about the Azusa Revival. I met Ralph Riggs when 
he was in his seventies after God had used him mightily to 
advance His Kingdom. After talking with Brother Riggs, my 
mind would wander back to his days at Azusa. I could see 
him running around full of life as he and other teenagers and 
young people were involved in the awesome outpouring of 
God. Instead of waiting until he was older to begin his 
ministry, by the time he reached adulthood, he had already 
been used of God in a way that most adults—especially in 
their twilight years—only dream about. 

The Topeka Connection  
Meet Mr and Mrs Lankford    Azusa Ages: 20 and 18  
Three years before the Azusa Revival there was Topeka, 
Kansas. In 1903, Dr Charles Parham had started a Bible 
School in Topeka where he taught about the Baptism of the 
Holy Spirit accompanied by the gift of tongues, which he 
personally had experienced. 
In 1903, a young man of seventeen, Brother Lankford, was 
led of God to leave Highland Park, California, and travel to 
Topeka to learn about this new teaching. Under Parham‘s 
witness, he received the Baptism and gift himself. Little did 
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Lankford understand the significance of his venture to 
Kansas. 
He returned to California in 1904 and introduced this new 
teaching to Dr Yoakum, the founder of Pisgah. Dr Yoakum, 
after receiving the Baptism and gift of tongues, in turn, taught 
others at Pisgah about this exciting experience. You will recall 
that it was because of Brother Lankford and Dr Yoakum that 
Sister Carney received the Baptism and gift in 1904, two years 
prior to Azusa. Azusa was not an after-thought of God. This 
great visitation of God was ordained long before the actual 
experience took place. The prayers offered the past several 
years that focused on seeking revival were but the final stage 
of this God-ordained experience. Even before the first prayer 
was offered, God was preparing many people to participate in 
this magnificent outpouring of His Spirit. One such Saint was 
Brother Lankford, who had a hunger to know all that he 
could about yielding himself to God. This desire led him to 
Topeka, then back to California, and eventually to Azusa 
where he would be used of God in mighty ways. According to 
Mrs Lankford, he was personally involved in over 100 
miracles and healings. I had the privilege of getting to know 
Brother Lankford and his wife during my time at Pisgah. He 
was a few inches taller than six feet and she stood about five-
ten. Mrs Lankford was a good-sized lady who was soft-
spoken and very while on the other hand; Brother Lankford 
was tall and slender but gruff at times. 
Unlike my other visits, when I came to their home I wasn‘t 
greeted with cookies and milk. Brother Lankford had 
discovered my weakness for strawberry ice cream, which was 
also his favourite. So I sat at their feet and enjoyed ice cream 
while listening to their stories. The Lankfords were all about 
being used by God to bring about healings and miracles. 
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When we talked, the entire evening was one story after 
another about the miraculous works of God at Azusa. I 
would often begin by asking the Lankford‘s to tell me their 
most interesting miracles. Once the question left my lips, 
there was no turning back. Brother Lankford would begin and 
Mrs Lankford would add her memories to those of her 
husband. 
―I witnessed a man‘s fingers actually grow back.‖ That 
statement would grasp my attention as I begged for more 
details. Lankford told me about a man who had gotten two 
fingers caught several weeks earlier in some type of machine, 
and before he knew it the machine had ripped off two of his 
fingers. The man had heard that astonishing miracles 
happened at the Azusa Warehouse so he came with the 
expectation of getting healed. 
Brother Lankford shocked the man by asking, ―Can we see 
what God will do?‖ 
The man, somewhat puzzled, replied, ―What do you mean?‖ 
―Let‘s ask God to grow them out!‖ Lankford was very bold 
and outspoken. With the man‘s approval, Lankford grabbed 
the man‘s hand and instructed him to put it up in the air. 
Holding the man‘s hand up high, and with Sister Lankford 
holding his arm, Lankford began to pray. 
As soon as the man‘s fingers began to grow out, Sister 
Lankford passed out from the sight of such a miracle. As 
Brother Lankford held firmly to the man‘s hand, they 
watched the miracle happen before their very eyes! Lankford 
started taking the man around shouting that his fingers had 
just grown out. You could hear Lankford cry out, ―These 
weren‘t here before. Look, God grew these fingers out.‖ The 
man stood next to Lankford in shock with his mouth opened 
in amazement. Before the miracle was over, even the man‘s 
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fingernails grew out, as the man was made whole. Mrs 
Lankford smiled as her husband told about the greatest 
miracle he had been a part of and as soon as he finished, she 
said, ―Let me tell you my most memorable miracle.‖ 
Sister Lankford didn‘t wait for approval and began to tell 
about her story. At the time of this miracle, the Lankfords 
were engaged, and she said somewhat forcefully, ―Honey, 
come here!‖—He wasn‘t used to her talking like that because 
she was very sweet and very soft-spoken. She said, ―Look 
here at this sister of ours that God is going to heal.‖ 
The lady had a very bad hunchback. Her back didn‘t just 
curve over; it was twisted. She was an older woman, probably 
around 50 to 55 years old. She told Sister Lankford that the 
problem had started when she was about 30, and it had just 
gotten worse and worse. 
The doctor wanted to put her into a nursing home, and even 
her husband felt that she should be there because she could 
hardly get around. Well, her husband brought her, thinking 
that maybe God would do something at the revival meeting. 
Brother Lankford came over and laid his hands on the 
hunched back and started praying for her. You could hear the 
popping of the bones. Within minutes, right before their eyes, 
she was healed. She broke into dancing and even went up 
onto the platform, dancing and screaming. Right behind her 
was Brother Anderson, who had been standing up on a bench 
where he saw the miracle happen and also could hear the 
bones cracking. I asked Sister Langford, ―What did you and 
Brother Langford do?‘‖ 
She responded, ―Well, we were both running with her.‖ 
―You mean you were dancing?‖ 
She smiled and said, ―That was a long time ago, Brother 
Tommy.‖ I smiled and just said, ―Oh.‖  
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Now it was Brother Lankford‘s turn. ―Another memorable 
miracle is the crippled man in a wheelchair who wouldn‘t let 
the doctors cut off his legs.‖ Lankford went on to explain that 
the man had worked as a brakeman for the railroad and had 
been crippled in an accident when a train pinned his legs 
down and broke many of his bones. 
You could tell through his pant legs that the bones in his legs 
were kind of knotty, but he was too shy or embarrassed to 
pull up his pant legs to show his injuries. 
The Lankfords came up to this man, and Brother Lankford 
asked, ―Well, what happened to you?‖ The man explained 
why he was confined to a wheelchair. Brother Lankford 
replied, ―Well, we can‘t allow that to happen, it‘s about time 
you came here.‖ The man quietly said, ―Yeah, I‘m sorry, yes, 
I‘m here.‖ Lankford said that he wasn‘t sure if he had come 
alone, but he had pushed himself into the service. When 
Brother Lankford saw him sitting there, he said it brought 
him to tears. He said to the man, ―It‘s a miracle they didn‘t 
cut your legs off.‖ The crippled man answered, ―I have been 
paralyzed from the waist down like this for about 2 years. 
They wanted to amputate, but I wouldn‘t let them.‖ Brother 
Lankford started praying for him, and Sister Carney, who was 
observing, broke in and corrected him. ―No, no, no, that‘s not 
faith!‖ She went over to the man and picked up his legs and 
put the footrests up, so he could get up. She expected him to 
get up! After Sister Carney was done, Brother Lankford 
prayed for the man. You could hear the bones cracking and 
see the legs just straighten up. The man got out of his 
wheelchair and went flying—and of course, a bunch of those 
who surrounded the man went with him. I thought that was 
an extreme phenomenon, and I asked Brother Lankford, 
―Did God have to put the bones back together?‖ 
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Lankford nodded and said, ―Yes, God had to put the bones 
back together. You could see when the man came to Azusa 
that he was pathetic—he couldn‘t walk, and he couldn‘t move 
from the waist down. And here this man was running around 
the place shouting and dancing and leaping.‖ I sat there and 
would think, ―It is no wonder they had such a revival, no 
wonder this thing went worldwide. Yes, they received the 
speaking in tongues and that was great, but many of the 
miracles that were performed were not done by big preachers. 
Many of those being used by God were just ordinary 
teenagers and young people doing extraordinary works 
through God.‖ Brother Lankford also was blessed with the 
great gift of helping those people that had cleft palates or lips 
to receive healing. Some of those who came there for healing 
had never had operations or medical treatment. There would 
be big gaps in their mouths and he would pray for them and 
the gaps would be filled in. Sometimes some of their teeth 
would be gone and the teeth would be restored. I said, ―Teeth 
and all?‖ Brother Lankford nodded, and said, ―Teeth and all.‖ 
Lankford said that over the three-year period he was there, 
God used him in healing around 100 people, many with cleft 
palates. 
Mrs Lankford wanted to continue with more stories, but 
Brother Lankford wasn‘t quite finished. ―Two more stories. 
Let me tell you about the tumour on the spine. Even though 
the tumour was covered by the man‘s shirt, you could see the 
outline of the tumour. It stood out about 3 inches, and was 
about a foot long, and 4 inches wide.‖ Brother Lankford 
described the man as middle-aged and according him, had had 
the tumour for about 3 years. The man came in with a bunch 
of people, and someone let Brother Lankford know about 
him, and that the next day he was to have x-rays taken to find 
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out what was wrong. Lankford told how he prayed over the 
tumour and it just sunk into this body—the man was totally 
healed. Without taking a breath, Brother Lankford went on to 
the next miracle. There was a woman with part of her nose 
gone from cancer. He prayed for her, but nothing happened 
immediately. He told the lady that sometimes miracles don‘t 
happen instantly and to have faith. She came back the next 
night and her nose was perfect. Now it was finally Sister 
Lankford‘s turn again. 
She told about the time four or five blind people were 
brought in from a home for the blind. Sister Lankford walked 
up to them and announced that God was going to work 
miracles. Brother Lankford ran over to them, covered their 
eyes, and prayed for them, laying hands on each of them. 
Every time he removed his hands the results were the same: 
they could see! Instant healings! The whole place erupted in 
shouting and dancing. 
I broke in and asked Sister Lankford if they had ever seen or 
participated in miracles where limbs or body parts were 
actually re-grown. They both confirmed that personally they 
only personally participated in the miracle where man‘s 
fingers were restored but that such miracles did happen 
through Brother Seymour as he was anointed by God. I asked 
if they remembered any specific miracles where God used 
Brother Seymour, and Sister Lankford‘s eyes lit up. ―I recall 
witnessing two of the greatest miracles where Seymour was 
greatly used by God.‖ I was all ears! First, she told about the 
man with the wooden leg. Seymour had approached a man 
with a wooden leg and asked, ―What did you come here for?‘ 
The man replied, ―I want you to pray for my leg. It is starting 
to get gangrene where the wooden leg attaches.‖ Seymour 
replied, ―I‘m just upset because you have the wooden leg on. 
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It would be hard for God to grow a leg out when the wooden 
leg is attached.‖ The man removed the wooden leg and stood 
before Seymour standing on his one good leg. 
Seymour laid hands on the man and proclaimed, ―Let Thy 
Name be Glorified. In the Name of Jesus, I command this leg 
to grow out. The gangrene is gone; you are healed.‖ 
Seymour didn‘t preach that night. The miracle spoke for itself. 
Rejoicing was continuous as the crowd went wild. The man 
ran upon the platform and around the room. No one could 
get him to stop rejoicing and praising God. Next, Sister 
Lankford told of the man with no arm. Seymour spoke with a 
man who had lost his arm ten years earlier through a work-
related accident. The arm had been totally severed at the 
shoulder. Brother Seymour asked the crowd, ―Would you like 
to see God have a wonderful time here tonight? Some of you 
may remember the man‘s leg that grew out about a year ago.‖ 
Seymour then asked the one-armed man, ―Can you work with 
just the one arm?‖ 
 ―I‘m just given minimal paying jobs and I barely make 
enough money to even eat.‖  Seymour shook his head and 
responded, ―That‘s not good. Are you married?‖ ―Yes.‖ ―Got 
kids?‖ ―Yes.‖ ―This man needs to be able to make a living. 
This man needs to work and he needs to be able to pay his 
tithe. Will you tithe if I pray for you and God gives you your 
arm back?‖ Seymour said teasingly. ―Yes!‖ Seymour burst out 
laughing. ―I‘m just having fun.‖ He then slapped his hands on 
the shoulder itself and commanded the arm to grow out. 
Almost instantly it grew out. The healed man stood in total 
shock, then started moving his arm and feeling of it with his 
other hand, awed by the miracle. 
A few weeks later the man came back, bringing about 200 
people with him, telling many at the meeting that he had 
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gotten his old job back. Many of those he brought with him 
needed healing and left that evening fully restored as people 
in the crowd prayed and laid hands on each of them. As 
always, time passed quickly at the Lankford‘s home. The 
evening always ended too soon. As I would walk to my dorm 
room, I would relive the stories in my mind, marvelling at the 
mighty works that the Azusa Saints witnessed and participated 
in. I longed for the day that the Shekinah Glory would fall 
again—and this time I wanted be right in the middle of it. 

Living Proof  
Meet Sister Mangrum   Azusa Age: 22  
Remember these inspiring words from the song, ―I Believe In 
Miracles‖?  

Creation shows the power of God, there‟s glory all around. 
And those who see must stand in awe, for miracles abound. 

I believe in miracles, I‟ve seen a soul set free. 
Miraculous the change in one redeemed through Calvary. 

I‟ve seen the lily push its way up through the stubborn sod. 
I believe in miracles for I believe in God. 

This is a book about miracles—great miracles as recalled by 
faithful Saints of God who were eyewitnesses to the 
miraculous. Only the fool can say in his heart that God is not 
a God of wonder-working power, not only transforming lives 
on the inside, but often bringing healing and miracles for 
those who need Him to touch them in a special way. Many of 
the Saints at Pisgah only had the memories of God‘s mighty, 
wonder-working power at Azusa, but that wasn‘t true for all 
of them. One such Saint had living proof of God‘s power 
near her even when I met her at Pisgah. You see, I not only 
got to meet Sister Mangrum, I also got to meet a Saint that 
had been miraculously healed through the ministry of Sister 
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Mangrum when she was at Azusa. Living there at Pisgah were 
both the one who was used of God to perform a miracle and 
the one who had received this miracle of healing. Since the 
lady that was healed was in her mid-forties at the time of the 
healing, I considered it a privilege that I got to meet her as 
she neared her hundredth birthday. ―Mother‖ Mangrum, as 
she was later called, was in her early twenties at Azusa but in 
her mid-seventies when I met her at Pisgah. She stood around 
five feet, two inches, and weighed about 110 pounds. She was 
always very well dressed, very prim and proper, well spoken, 
as well as kind and courteous. 
Mother Mangrum often called me her ―little‖ boy, and I had 
the honour of going once a month to her home, which was 
one of the larger apartments on the grounds. As tradition 
would dictate, she would bake chocolate chip cookies and 
serve cold milk during our time together. I sat on a big huge 
throw rug that almost covered the entire floor. She sat on a 
good-sized, antique, wooden rocking chair that had belonged 
to her great-grandmother. 
Mother Mangrum was part of the ―Carney‖ crowd, and like 
Sister Carney, was married at the time of Azusa and attended 
the revival services with her husband. 
One of Mother Mangrum‘s favourite stories was about the 
pigeon-toed woman. She was in her mid-forties and couldn‘t 
walk very well as her knees bowed inward and had been that 
way since her teenage years. Mother Mangrum immediately 
noticed her as she came scooting and wobbling in, walking 
kind of funny. Mother Mangrum went over to her and asked, 
―Have you come to be healed?‖ The lady responded, ―I came 
to see what was going on. You say I can be healed? Of what?‖ 
Mother Mangrum pointed to her legs and said, ―Of your 
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legs.‖ She sat down with the woman and tried to convince her 
that God would straighten up her legs. 
The woman responded in a slight stutter, ―Well, ah, ah, it‘s 
worth a try.‖ She told Mother Mangrum that people had 
made fun of her a lot since she was a child. Mother Mangrum 
eagerly responded, ―Yes, what have you got to lose.‖ She 
prayed for her, keeping her hands on the woman‘s head. She 
explained that it was kind of like heat coming out of her 
hands onto the woman. Finally the woman started shaking 
and said, ―Something‘s happening, something‘s happening!‖  
Mother Mangrum looked down at the woman‘s legs and 
excitedly told the woman to look. Her feet and legs were 
straightening out and in about two minutes, she was 
completely restored. Knees, twisted legs and pigeon-toed feet 
were totally straightened and healed. 
She asked the woman, ―Would you like to walk normal now? 
We could do a dance all over this place.‖ She looked at 
Mother Mangrum and said, ―I have never danced in my whole 
life.‖ Mother Mangrum smiled and said, ―Well, let‘s learn 
now,‖ and began to dance with her. Soon, the woman realized 
that a miracle had really happened to her and went ―wild‖ 
dancing before God 
Before Mother Mangrum knew it, the lady had run out of the 
building and several minutes later came running back in 
screaming and hollering—she wanted to get back into the 
building, afraid she might lose her healing if she wasn‘t inside. 
After she settled down, she looked around and asked, ―What 
is this stuff?‖ ―We call it the Shekinah Glory.‖ While at 
Pisgah, I got to meet this lady, who by then was near 100 
years old. For years she operated a rescue mission down on 
skid row for homeless women on the streets. After the 
miracle, she gave the rest of her life to ministering to homeless 
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women. When I would go to see her, she was all but on her 
deathbed. Her one question to me and all the Saints was, ―I 
just want to know what happened to that Shekinah Glory.‖ 
Of course, my curiosity got the best of me, and I asked to see 
this elderly woman‘s legs that had been healed. At first she 
was reluctant, but then with some encouragement from 
Mother Mangrum, she showed me her legs—still completely 
healed after all those years. 
She was living proof right before my eyes that God had 
visited Azusa in a mighty way. Mother Mangrum always 
shared one other story. It was about the woman with the 
hooked nose. When she first noticed the lady, Mother 
Mangrum told me she thought that maybe a doctor could 
help fix her ugly nose, but God had other ideas. She heard a 
small voice within her say, ―I am a better doctor than any 
doctor here on earth.‖ 
With that message from God, she looked at the lady again 
and felt that she needed to pray for her. She went to the 
woman and prayed but the results were not immediate. Later 
on in the service, Mother Mangrum noticed that the ―hook‖ 
was gone and went up to her and commented about the 
healing. The woman was somewhat happy but told Mother 
Mangrum, ―I know the hook is gone, but I don‘t like the little 
point at the end of my nose.‖ Mother Mangrum understood 
her concern and prayed for her again, and before the lady left 
the meeting a few hours later she had a perfect nose. Looking 
at God‘s miracle, Mother Mangrum silently rejoiced as she 
thought how wonderful it was that God even cared enough 
about a person‘s feelings to straighten out this lady‘s ugly 
nose. Mother Mangrum was somewhat theatrical when she 
told her stories, and with many gestures made the stories 
come alive. Although I was impressed with what God had 
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done back at the turn of the century, I knew that not far from 
where we were, there was a lady in her late nineties who was 
living proof. 

A Different Claim To Fame  
Meet Sisters Lucille and Laura   Azusa Ages: 18 and 16  
In the 1950‘s, Lucille had a small claim to fame. Lucille Ball 
had made Lucille McGillicuddy‘s name famous by paying 
handsomely to use it as the maiden name of her television 
character in I Love Lucy. 
 But her name is not all that she is remembered for. In fact, 
Lucille McGillicuddy made quite a name for herself by 
becoming the secretary for Aimee Semple-McPherson and 
her successor, Jean Darnell. In addition, she was part of the 
youth group that impacted the lives of many during the Azusa 
Street Revival. I met Sister Lucille at Pisgah. She couldn‘t 
have weighed much more than 90 pounds and stood under 
five feet tall. She was very slender and petite. Like many of 
the Pentecostal women of that day, she had long hair that 
almost touched the floor but wore it in a glory bun held 
together by a host of hairpins. 
Since she was one of the Azusa Saints, I had the honour of 
sitting down at her feet and listening to her recount her Azusa 
days. Yes, she made homemade chocolate chip cookies and 
always had a cold glass of milk waiting for me. During her 
Azusa days, she was part of the Carney-Riggs-Ward-Anderson 
group and was instrumental in helping many receive healing. I 
would begin our time together by asking her to tell me about 
the greatest healing or miracle in which she personally 
participated. She always told of two miracles that were a vivid 
part of her memory. First, she told me about the lady who 
had one leg shorter than the other. Her name was Goldie, and 
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she had polio, causing one leg to be over four inches shorter 
than the other. Sister Lucille kept insisting that Goldie take 
the brace off and allow God to heal her. Goldie told Lucille, 
―If I take the brace off, I better be healed.‖ Sister Lucille 
smiled and said, ―You will be! Now take it off.‖ She took off 
the brace, and Sister Lucille immediately prayed for her. As 
Goldie and Lucille sat there, the leg straightened up. Lucille 
told her to get up and walk. She took her first steps and 
almost fell over because she was not accustomed to walking 
with normal legs—miraculously both legs were the same 
length. Next, with a twinkle in her eye, she would tell me 
about the woman who had had her wrist shattered in a 
domestic squabble. The woman couldn‘t use her hand at all. 
Sister Lucille said, ―It looks like your wrist has been crushed!‖ 
She responded, ―My husband hit it with a mallet. He was mad 
at me and thought he would teach me a lesson and crushed 
my wrist.‖ Sister Lucille told me that it just broke her heart. 
She earnestly wanted the lady healed and when she prayed, 
she all but begged God to heal her. After her prayer, she said 
to the wrist, ―I say in the Name of Jesus, you do what I told 
you and be healed!‖ Immediately, the lady‘s wrist was totally 
restored. Sister Lucille‘s next story was not a cookies and milk 
story. She would tell about the miracles performed on people 
who had very bad teeth, and usually I would lose my appetite. 
Lucille would have them open their mouths, and she would 
stick her fingers on the teeth that were bad and pray for 
healing. I asked her, ―Were they infected and filled with bad 
stuff?‖ She would look at me with a half-grin on her face. I 
said, ―You stuck your finger on their teeth?‖ With that half-
grin on her face, she said, ―Yeah.‖ ―What if there wasn‘t a 
tooth there?‖ I would ask playfully. Sister Lucille took her 
story over the top. ―I would stick my finger on the bare gum. 
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In fact, many times I would push against the gum and let the 
new tooth push my finger out. On the really decayed teeth, all 
the bad stuff would come out, and we would use a 
handkerchief to rub the bad stuff off and there would be a 
new tooth. Even crooked teeth would straighten up.‖ 
I just sat there shaking my head. Even though her 
descriptions of the teeth often caused my stomach to turn, I 
sat in awe at the miracles she described. She would ask me, 
―Tommy, wouldn‘t you love to see those kind of healings in 
our services today?‖ I would just nod in agreement. 
What impressed Sister Lucille was that the miracles were not 
confined to Brother Seymour. She would comment, ―A little 
bitty woman like me could walk up and command a leg to 
grow out, and it would grow out. A busted wrist would grow 
back together. Rotten teeth would be replaced with brand 
new teeth, and missing teeth would grow back in.‖ I asked her 
if she ever worked with someone who had all their teeth 
missing. She said ―No, I never tried that.‖ 
I teasingly said, ―Well, you should have.‖ She rebukingly 
replied, ―I just never tried that Brother Tommy.‖ I would 
meekly change the subject and ask her to describe what the 
Shekinah Glory was like. She would get such joy in her eyes as 
she told me how much she loved to be in the centre of the 
mist-like cloud. She was so little, she would sit down in it—
when it was thick, the mist was about up to her neck. Like a 
kid, she would have fun and play in the mist. 
She would often lie down, breathing in the mist. She would 
tell how she could feel the energy of it and described that it 
was like being put into an oxygen tent. When Brother 
Seymour was there, and they would sing in the Spirit, Sister 
Lucille told me that the Shekinah Glory would just rise and 
fill the whole room, and you could breathe so much better—
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as if the room were filled with pure oxygen. Sister Lucille had 
a best friend, Laura Langtroff, who moved to Pisgah in 1955. 
Sister Laura became a part of Azusa when Lucille invited her 
to attend the revival.  When I met Sister Laura at Pisgah, she 
was in her seventies, stood about five feet, seven inches tall, 
and weighed around 170 pounds. She had dark brown, very 
long hair and kept it up in a glory bun. Sister Laura came 
from a very well-to-do family and was a wealthy woman on 
her own right, but she chose to live at Pisgah with her Azusa 
friends. When I would talk to Sister Laura, she would tell me 
about Azusa through her eyes. She and Lucille both worked 
with a lot of people who had trouble breathing. They loved 
ministering to women and especially those who were old and 
feeble. Legend has it that if a woman came in with a cane or 
crutches and got near Sister Laura, she would be healed and 
walked away from the meeting, free of canes or crutches. 
I remember asking Sister Laura, How many miracles or 
healings did you participate in? She thought for a moment. ―I 
attended every night, and there were at least three or four a 
night!‖ Not long into our talk, I would ask the same question 
of Sister Laura that I asked of every Saint: ―What was the 
greatest miracle or healing you personally were a part of?‖ 
Sister Laura would tell me about one of the most exciting 
miracles she was involved in—and one of the most exciting 
miracles ever at Azusa. Here‘s her story. A woman came into 
the meeting holding a staff. She could hardly breathe and 
looked like a skeleton. She only lived about two miles from 
Azusa and had started walking to Azusa about three in the 
afternoon but didn‘t reach the Warehouse until six in the 
evening. She literally took one baby step at a time, placing the 
staff in front of her then scooting her feet up to it and 
repeating the slow, tedious process until she reached the 
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revival meeting. She reminded me of the woman in the Bible* 
who knew that if she just touched the hem of the garment of 
Jesus she would be healed. That evening at Azusa, this 
woman was determined to get healed. She came in, and 
looked around as if she were studying the room. At some 
point, her eyes met Laura‘s and she said, ―That‘s the woman I 
want to pray for me,‖ pointing to Sister Laura. 
 Sister Laura walked over to her and said, ―Mother, what can I 
do for you?‖ The next words the lady spoke were almost 
haunting. ―I won‘t live through the night if God doesn‘t heal 
me; I‘ll die. Doctors say my lungs are ate up with cancer, and 
I can hardly breathe. I‘ve been losing weight for about a 
year.‖ This dear, feeble, elderly woman weighed about 65 
pounds, standing at about five feet, six inches tall. She was 
nothing but bones. Sister Laura laid hands on her and prayed 
for her. Immediately, she was able to breathe normally. In the 
next three hours she would gain about 40 pounds while at the 
meeting, yet she ate nothing and only breathed in the 
Shekinah Glory. She said, ―My lungs are not hurting; I can 
breathe like when I was young!‖ Yes, there was a great 
celebration that evening. 
Sister Laura was a shouter. Her glory bun shook loose and 
hairpins flew everywhere as she celebrated with this dear 
Saint. But that‘s not the end of the story. This lady went to 
her doctor—Thomas White, who later founded Wings of 
Healing. When she went to his office, he asked her if she had 
filled out the forms that first-time patients had to fill out—he 
did not recognize her. When she told him who she was, he 
could not believe she was the same person. 
After running some tests and checking her out, he told her 
that her insides were just like new—lungs and all. In 
amazement, he told her, ―There is no way you could have 
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gained that much weight back since the last time I saw you. It 
is impossible!‖ 
She boldly replied, ―I know I couldn‘t; but God could.‖ The 
doctor exclaimed, ―You‘re going down to that warehouse, 
aren‘t you?‖ 
After attending the revival with her, in a few months, he was 
no longer practicing traditional medicine! He founded Wings 
of Healing where he experienced miracles galore. He told the 
Saints at Azusa that the woman cured of cancer and lung 
failure should have died six months earlier. Truly, her faith 
not only made her whole but also sustained her on her 
determined journey to find God and His miraculous power 
waiting for her at Azusa. Sister Lucille and Sister Laura, both 
very wealthy, found something at Azusa money couldn‘t buy. 
They found a common bond forged by the mighty acts of 
God during Azusa. That bonded friendship was still strong 
and unbreakable sixty years later as these saints fellowshipped 
with others who were touched by the Shekinah Glory poured 
out at Azusa. Oh, dear God, find us worthy and allow Your 
Spirit to fall fresh on us with a new outpouring of Your 
Glory.  * Matthew 9:20  

A Lifetime Of Miracles  
Meet Brother Cantrell   Azusa Age: 21  
A myriad of Miracles happened at Azusa daily as people by 
the hundreds experienced the mighty power of God. One of 
the sad commentaries on the Azusa Street Experience is that 
many who were being used of God daily to perform miracles 
and healings. Rarely were they ever were used again for such 
mighty works. Many understood that the miracles were a part 
of a unique visitation of God and were a direct manifestation 
of His Glorious Presence. Miracles were not unique to Azusa. 
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They happened before Azusa and didn‘t end after Azusa. 
Some of the Saints of Azusa continued to be used of God to 
perform miracles their entire lives.  
One man God continued to use was Brother Cantrell. I 
personally experienced two miracles from his hands that 
changed my life completely. It was Brother Cantrell who 
miraculously caused me to quit smoking and prayed for me 
for ―holy boldness‖ that gave me the ability to speak in front 
of a large number of people—a gift that I certainly didn‘t 
have before he ministered to me.  
Brother Cantrell was somewhat tall, standing five feet, nine 
inches. I vividly recall that he wore a hat all the time except 
when he was in Church. Even though he was single, he baked 
fresh cookies and always had cold milk waiting for me for our 
long talks. Once a month I would go to his apartment, which 
was caddy-corner from Pisgah. When he told me his stories, I 
sat at Brother Cantrell‘s feet on a throw rug and he sat in an 
upholstered chair. Even when he told his stories, he never 
showed much emotion. He was pleasant, nice, and friendly 
but not big on emotions. When our meetings first started, I 
asked him if he personally had had any great miracles. He 
replied, ―Anyone who attended Azusa very long had great 
miracles—especially if a person attended at least once a 
week— you had miracles!‖ 
―In fact,‖ Brother Cantrell said, ―God taught me a valuable 
lesson at Azusa. There was a man there who started quacking 
like a duck after receiving the Baptism of the Holy Spirit. I 
thought that the man was making a mockery of the Baptism 
and got upset with him. I thought, ‗This is not a language.‘  
―Many years later in the 1930‘s, I saw a documentary about a 
tribe in a place called Quackland. Their language was just like 
a duck. I realized that I was upset with this poor man and all 
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he did was speak in the language of Quackland. I have learned 
since never to question the acts of God, no matter how 
unique the act is.‖  
 I smiled at the story and asked Brother Cantrell to tell me 
about his most interesting miracle. He sat almost emotionless 
and told the story of the man who was what Cantrell called 
―tongue-tied.‖ The man was in his late twenties and instead of 
talking, he just mumbled. 
Brother Cantrell couldn‘t understand a word he said and 
finally told the man, ―Let‘s stop talking and get you healed 
first so I can understand you.‖ The man nodded his head and 
Brother Cantrell laid hands on him and told him to stick his 
tongue out. The man gestured that he couldn‘t, so Brother 
Cantrell reached down in the man‘s mouth and touched his 
tongue. In an authoritative voice, he commanded, ―In the 
Name of Jesus, tongue, I command you to be free.‖ And 
miraculously he was able to stick his tongue out. Brother 
Cantrell looked at the man‘s tongue, now loosed, and asked 
the man, ―Can you talk now?‖ The man said, ―I don‘t know.‖ 
Then he realized that he was talking in a normal voice and got 
all excited. He ran shouting, ―Glory, hallelujah!‖ He could 
speak perfectly. He didn‘t have to learn how to talk; he just 
needed his tongue loosed. Brother Cantrell was personally 
involved in one or two miracles a week, but he observed 
thousands of miracles performed over the years. He was just 
about 20 years old himself but told me that he loved to watch 
teenagers like Riggs, Ward, Anderson, and Carney. They 
would be running around having an exciting time, smiles on 
their faces, and praying for people as God supernaturally 
worked miracles through them. When the subject turned to 
Brother Seymour, Brother Cantrell told me that he stood in 
awe of him. He was impressed that what people thought did 



72 

not influence Seymour. Brother Seymour had such an 
anointing that Cantrell stood back in awe, especially when 
Seymour participated in the leg and arm growing out. Brother 
Cantrell was a man who was quiet and not given to much 
emotion, but continued even when I knew him to be used 
mightily of God. I loved his stories, but they were even more 
powerful when told by a man who continued to live out a 
small portion of Azusa even sixty years later. 

Crossing Racial Barriers  
Meet Brother Garcia    Azusa Age: 18  
Of all the stories told about Azusa Street, perhaps the most 
astonishing is that it was the first totally integrated church in 
America. All barriers were broken as all races worshipped 
together as one, regardless of colour, nationality, or creed. 
Those who gathered for over three years were truly one in the 
Spirit. When Seymour came down to the meeting, if he saw 
that the people had segregated themselves into racial groups, 
he would insist that they integrate. 
Such an openness of worship and acceptance of every person 
regardless of race was one of the critical factors that led 
David Garcia, a young Mexican-American, to attend services 
at Azusa every evening after work as well as Saturdays and 
Sundays. I met Brother David at Pisgah where he had lived 
since about 1955. He stood five feet and seven inches tall and 
weighed about 200 pounds. At the time of Azusa, David was 
around 18 years old and lived just about a mile from the 
Warehouse. He began attending the revival shortly after the 
meetings began in 1906. When we got together to talk about 
Azusa, Brother Garcia broke tradition and served strong 
coffee rather than milk and cookies. That was basically the 
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only difference as I sat at his feet in respect and listened to 
him re-live his memories of God‘s mighty works.  
The story Brother David began with was the Grand Central 
Station experience. David lived about a half a mile on the 
other side of Grand Central Station and walked right by it 
coming to the Azusa Street Warehouse. One evening he ran 
to the meeting to find Frank Bartleman and told him that he 
needed to come to Grand Central Station. ―Why? What‘s 
going on there?‖ Bartleman asked out of curiosity. 
 Brother Garcia, while trying to catch his breath, exclaimed, 
―You‘ve got to come and see this! The anointing is far beyond 
where it had been in the past. 
You have to come on down and see!‖ Together Bartleman 
and Garcia ran down to the station that was a half-mile away 
from the Warehouse. There they witnessed people come in 
from all over the world, get off the train, walk across the 
platform, and fall out in the Spirit often speaking in 
tongues—Someone had commented that the phenomenon 
had been happening all day long. 
When Garcia first saw the people laying all over the platform 
area, he thought it was a disaster until he realized what was 
going on and ran to find Bartleman. Frank had talked about a 
line or circle of blood—several blocks around the Azusa 
Warehouse—where the power of God extended outward. 
Several blocks before reaching the Warehouse, people were 
being healed, falling out in the Spirit and speaking in tongues 
for the first time. This was the first time God‘s power had 
reached all the way to Grand Central Station. Although no 
miracles were taking place, the Presence and power of God, 
without question, had now moved out a half-mile from the 
actual warehouse! Brother Garcia was awe struck by the 
Shekinah Glory that lingered for over three years at and 
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around the Warehouse. He would tell me, ―We have got to 
get the Shekinah back if we want to see a worldwide revival!‖ 
I asked Brother David, ―Did you ever see the flame?‖ He told 
that there were times he was coming to the meeting late and 
would see the flames as far away as Grand Central Station. 
Brother Garcia would think, ―Whoo, God‘s moving again,‖ 
and would run to Azusa because he knew that when the fire 
was falling, there was more power at the meeting and he 
wanted to be a part of it. He explained that the experience 
was greater than breathing pure oxygen. There were times the 
Shekinah Glory was only a foot high, and he would lie down 
in it to breathe God‘s Glory. He often stressed that the 
greater the Shekinah Glory, the greater the power. He would 
note that the flames were there when God, through Seymour, 
performed the miracles where a leg re-grew and another 
where an arm re-grew. 
Garcia was there when the arm grew out. He said, ―Brother 
Tommy, he didn‘t have a ball joint in his shoulder, it had been 
ripped out of there. I was close enough to be looking right at 
the shoulder and all of a sudden I saw the bones start to come 
out and then flesh started coming around them. His arm just 
shot out in just what seemed mere seconds as I watched.‖ For 
Garcia, it seemed like he was watching in slow motion as he 
was awed at what God was doing. Brother Garcia was the 
first to tell me of Seymour‘s prophesy that in about 100 years 
there would be a return of the Shekinah Glory and a revival 
that would surpass the Works of God at Azusa.* When we 
talked in the Sixties, Garcia realized that the prophesy was still 
forty years away from being fulfilled, but still longed for God 
to accelerate His plans and allow the Shekinah Glory to fall 
again in his lifetime. I loved to hear about the cloud or mist 
that filled Azusa signifying the Presence of God. I also loved 
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to hear about the great miracles that happened in that mist. I 
would ask Brother David to describe the greatest miracle he 
had ever participated in. Without hesitation, he would tell of 
the multiple healings that took place all within a few minutes. 
There were two women and a man all with crippling arthritis 
and couldn‘t walk. They were in wheelchairs and had come 
from a nearby nursing home. One of the women couldn‘t 
even feed herself. Brother Garcia asked, ―Did you come to 
get healed?‖ All three responded ―yes‖ or nodded their heads. 
First, Garcia laid hands on the head of the lady who couldn‘t 
feed herself and couldn‘t even talk and prayed for her. 
Immediately, her head quit shaking. She looked up at Brother 
David and said, ―Are you Jesus?‖ Brother Garcia laughed and 
said, ―No, Jesus is in me and I prayed for you in the Name of 
Jesus, but I‘m not Jesus. But Jesus just healed you!‖ She 
looked at him for a long time and finally said, ―Can I get up?‖ 
Garcia smiled and said, ―Yes, I told you in the name Jesus, get 
up and walk!‖ The once-crippled lady got up and started 
walking and then started doing a waltz type dance—a 
beautiful dance as if she were a young woman. She danced for 
at least an hour. Brother Garcia smiled at her beautiful 
dancing then looked around at the other woman. With a big 
smile on her face, she simply said, ―I‘m ready.‖ He came over 
and prayed for her and in a minute she was up. She kind of 
stood there shaking—as if she were afraid. Brother David 
reached out to steady her but she said, ―No, leave me alone; 
pray for him.‖ Sister Carney had already gotten the footrests 
up on all the wheelchairs and had moved on to someone else. 
Brother Garcia prayed for the man and the crippled man 
asked, ―What is this? It‘s like electricity.‖ 
Garcia simply replied, ―It‘s the Power of God. 
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You‘re healed in the Name of Jesus, and you can get up and 
walk or run or dance or whatever you want to do.‖ I asked, 
―Well, what did he do?‖ Garcia replied, ―He took off in a 
streak running as I just stood there marvelling at all three of 
them celebrating their healings.‖ 
Brother David then would tell me his most endearing miracle. 
A little Hispanic girl, about the age of six, was blind. Her eyes 
were grey—a scary looking grey. Her parents told him that 
she started going blind at about the age of two and was 
completely blind by the time she was four. He prayed for the 
child and when she opened her eyes, the grey was gone, 
replaced with beautiful black eyes. She had been instantly 
healed. The child started dancing and celebrating, screaming 
the Name of Jesus while her parents tried to keep up with her. 
Brother Garcia also recalls a man in his mid-thirties, who had 
a gum disease. His face was almost a dark red due to poison 
in his gums, which were a blackish colour because of his teeth 
rotting. He laid hands on the man and prayed, and then told 
him to open his mouth. He asked the man if he felt anything 
and the man replied, ―Yeah. I feel something.‖ Brother 
Garcia said, ―I don‘t think so. You didn‘t feel anything 
because nothing happened here. Close your mouth again.‖ 
Garcia prayed a second time and asked, ―Feeling anything?‖ 
―A little‖ Garcia replied, ―We‘re not getting it done.‖ Before 
he prayed a third time, he asked, ―Do you believe God is 
going to give you new gums, new teeth, and He‘s going to 
clear up this infection in your face? Do you understand that is 
what we‘re praying for. You‘re going to get healed,‖ In 
obedience, the man said, ―Okay.‖ Garcia prayed and this time 
the redness disappeared from the man‘s face. When the man 
opened his mouth his gums were turning pink, and to 
Garcia‘s astonishment, he saw rotten teeth heal. By the time 
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the man left the meeting that evening, he was completely 
healed! 
I had the privilege of meeting the man‘s son, Bill, at Pisgah 
when Brother Smith introduced him to me. I had several 
conversations with Bill and finally asked the question I was 
dying to ask. ―Bill,‖ I said, ―Did your dad have bad teeth 
when he died.‖ Bill just grinned at the question and told me 
that in fact, at the time of his death, his dad had a full set of 
perfect teeth in his head. 
Brother Garcia summed up his experience with God at Azusa 
with these words: ―When you came into Azusa, you got 
healed. The more you attended, the more faith you had and 
the more things would happen. Because your faith was 
building up as you saw other people believing and you 
believe, soon you had no doubt when you walked up to 
someone that they were going to get healed. After a while it 
was easy to have the boldness to walk up to someone and 
proclaim ―God is going to heal you tonight!‖ I understood 
why Brother Garcia desired to once again be a part of the 
Shekinah Glory and see the miraculous hand of God move 
among His people. It was forty years ago that we spoke, and 
Brother Garcia told of the 100 year prophesy by Brother 
Seymour concerning the fresh outpouring of God‘s Spirit. As 
this book is being written, people all over the world are 
celebrating the Azusa Centennial. I pray the prayer of my dear 
friend and brother, David Garcia, that soon we will see 
Brother Seymour‘s prophesy fulfilled and the greatest 
visitation of God ever known to man fall fresh on this world. 
*Charles Parham also prophesied that another great revival 
would happen in about 100 years. Seymour, who made the 
prophesy around 1909 or 1910 may have made this prophesy 
after Parham.   
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Suffer The Little Children  
Meet Sister Dundee   Azusa Age: 22  
Every miracle at Azusa Street was a time for rejoicing. 24 
hours a day the Warehouse was full of people celebrating over 
the mighty movement of God as the blind were given sight, 
the crippled were able to walk, the sick were made well, and 
the diseased were made whole. The thought that God visited 
us in a barn to introduce His Son and revisited us through the 
Shekinah Glory in a warehouse that was once a stable 
confounds the minds of scholars and sceptics. These miracles 
were happening in an old, run-down church that had been 
abandoned and once used to house animals. By the time the 
building was rented for the revival meetings, it wasn‘t even fit 
for animals. We keep building great temples and cathedrals 
with lavish decorations and furnishings, and He keeps 
showing up in the most humble of dwellings. Perhaps there is 
a lesson there as we watch for the outpouring of His Spirit 
and the return of His Shekinah Glory to fall upon us once 
again.  
For over three years at Azusa, there was much to rejoice 
about, but nothing more precious than the healing of His little 
children. What gives us more joy and grateful hearts than to 
see a little child restored? A dear Saint of Azusa, whom I had 
the honour to know, understood and experienced such joy 
over and over again as she was led to seek out the little 
children and assist in bringing healing to their sick or broken 
bodies. Sister Dundee had been around Pisgah since the years 
of Dr Yoakum. She even had a grandson, Teddy, who lived 
with Brother Smith and his family. While I was at Pisgah, she 
remarried. I often thought about her new husband‘s devotion 
to Sister Dundee and how they were such a beautiful, sweet 
couple. I also was kind of partial to him because he would 
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take Teddy and me to eat breakfast at a lot of the better 
restaurants. Sister Dundee was close to 80 years old when I 
met her. Her hair, black with a bit of grey was pulled back 
into a glory bun. Italian by birth, Sister Dundee was a very 
quiet, sweet woman. She wore gold-rimmed glasses that hung 
or slid down to the end of her nose. Like Sister Carney, she 
wore those small granny boots with the hooks and eyelets. 
She was very healthy for her age, and very well spoken. She 
had experienced all kinds of miracles at Azusa, but I would 
have to coax and pull the stories out of her. When she was at 
Azusa, she liked being around Sister Carney and adored 
Brother Anderson—relationships that continued at Pisgah. 
When I went to her home to hear her stories, her husband 
would sit on the floor right next to me, his face beaming. He 
was just as excited as I was because he couldn‘t get her to tell 
him those stories when they were by themselves. 
Sister Dundee began her stories by telling about the crippled 
child on crutches, about seven or eight years old, brought to 
the meeting by her mother. The child had normal-sized legs, 
but wore braces and needed crutches to walk. The child told 
Sister Dundee that she had been prayed for before, but 
nothing had happened to her. Sister Dundee sat down and 
talked to her and explained that if she got healed, it would 
bring great glory to Jesus. She told the child, ―You are 
supposed to get healed at Azusa.‖ The little girl listened to her 
and said, ―Okay. Pray for me.‖ Sister Dundee asked, ―Has 
anyone ever taken your braces off before they prayed for 
you?‖ ―No.‖ Sister Dundee said, ―Well, that needs to stop.‖ 
Together, they took the braces off the little girl while she was 
sitting down, then Sister Dundee took the braces and crutches 
over to the other side of the room and came back to her. She 
gently smiled at her and said, ―Now, you can‘t get those back 



80 

because I won‘t bring them back to you, and I will keep your 
mother busy so she can‘t get them for you. You‘re just going 
to have to get healed. Darling, we‘ve got to glorify Jesus. It 
would break His heart if you didn‘t get healed.‖ Tears welled 
up in the little girl‘s eyes as she almost started to cry. Sister 
Dundee told her, ―All that is left for us to do is to start 
praying and obey Jesus and you will be healed. Then Jesus will 
get the glory.‖ The little girl agreed, and Sister Dundee prayed 
for her. Within a few moments, the little girl said that she felt 
something in her feet—something she had never felt before! 
Sister Dundee told her to stand up and to start trying to move 
her feet. The little girl said, ―I can‘t!‖  Sister Dundee gently 
responded, ―You need to try.‖ You could see the excitement 
rise as the little girl started moving her feet up and down. She 
looked down and she started doing a little dance like a little 
stomp. Then she started screaming that she was healed. Sister 
Dundee turned her loose and she went dancing and stomping 
all over the warehouse. 
This time, the little girl was healed. Sister Dundee loved 
picking out children and ministering to them—the younger 
the child, the better she liked it. Her next story was the most 
tender of all the Azusa stories. She went to a child, not yet a 
year old, with a bow in the neck. The baby would not cry or 
make any noise, but the mother said that she could tell that 
the baby was in pain. Sister Dundee asked the mother if she 
could pray for her baby. When the mother agreed, she took 
the child from her, putting the baby blanket over its head so 
that the mother couldn‘t see. She prayed for the baby, and 
tried not to get too excited because she was holding the baby 
in her arms. 
She had to contain herself when the bow started to disappear. 
She told me that she had to make sure not to throw a 
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―Pentecostal fit.‖ When the bow straightened out, Sister 
Dundee just stood there crying as the baby looked up at her 
and smiled. Finally, she heard the mother ask what was 
happening. 
―Why are you crying? Is there something wrong with my 
baby?‖ Sister Dundee was standing there loving on the child 
as she pulled the blanket back and showed the smiling, healed 
baby to her.  I asked, ―Did you give the baby back to its 
mother?‖ Sister Dundee said, ―Oh, Lord, no, I couldn‘t have 
caught that mother if I had wanted to. The mother just went 
running around rejoicing!‖ I asked about the father, and she 
said that the father wasn‘t at the meeting, but Sister Dundee 
had met him later. The mother took the baby back home and 
showed the father his healed baby. Not only did he come to 
the revival after that, he got saved and became the pastor of 
one of the larger churches in the Los Angeles area for about 
35-plus years. 
Sister Dundee also told of a little boy that had to have his 
head and his body strapped into his wheelchair to hold him 
up. She went over boy, and asked his parents, ―What is wrong 
with him?‖ The parents were not exactly sure. He had some 
kind of paralysis, but could breathe on his own. She told 
them, ―Well, this is good, for the Lord‘s Name will be 
glorified, but we can‘t just pray for him and leave him tied up 
here.‖ Sister Dundee started undoing the strap on his neck 
and told his parents to hold his body up. After she got 
everything loosened, she laid her hands on him and cried out, 
―In the Name of Jesus Christ, be made perfectly whole.‖ 
Sister Dundee said that immediately the boy jerked and then 
wanted to get down to play. I asked, ―Well, how old was he?‖ 
Sister Dundee said, ―Maybe he was six.‖ I said, ―You mean a 
little bitty kid?‖ Sister Dundee just smiled and said, ―Yes, a 
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little bitty kid. I no longer had gotten the words ‗In the Name 
of Jesus‘ out, and he was healed.‖ Sister Dundee told me that 
she got to see this boy many times over the next three years 
during the revival and about a year after that. The little boy 
affectionately call Sister Dundee ―Mammy‖ from the time of 
his healing up until the last time she saw him. There were 
other miracles Sister Dundee participated in—some of them 
with adults. She too loved the Shekinah Glory and loved the 
music that fell on the people as they sang in the Spirit. She 
described the music as like a choir from heaven coming down 
to join in the singing. She was part of Azusa almost the entire 
time the revival lasted. She loved it all, but nothing compared 
to the love she felt for the children in need of a miracle. 
Throughout her life, including while she was at Pisgah, God 
used her to touch the lives of children with miracles and 
healings.  

Preparing For The Miraculous  
Meet Brother Fox   Azusa Age: 18  
Azusa had global ramifications. Not only did people come to 
Azusa from all over the world, many went back home to their 
native countries, healed, renewed, inspired, transformed, and 
ready to be used of God. 
Azusa was a hands-on workshop for the miraculous led by 
God Himself. God used this great outpouring not only to 
meet immediate needs, but also for preparation to serve Him 
throughout the world. He brought young people there to train 
them for the mission field both at home and across the world. 
Men and women alike discovered the awesome power of God 
and how to be used of Him to perform His mighty works.  
One such man was Brother Fox. When he was in his late 
teenage years, he went to Azusa in preparation to go to the 
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mission field, or in particular to India and labour for God. By 
the time he arrived at Azusa, Ralph Riggs was about fourteen 
and C.W. Ward was around sixteen. For about 18 months, he 
experienced and participated in the miracles and healings at 
the Warehouse. By the time he reached his twentieth birthday, 
he was using what he had learned at Azusa to bring the 
mighty life-changing power of God to India.  
When I met Brother Fox in 1963, he had just retired and 
settled at Pisgah where he renewed his friendships with many 
Azusa Saints. He was in his early seventies, stood around five 
feet, nine inches tall, and weighed about 150 pounds. He kept 
his shiny silver hair kind of long and combed straight back. 
His hair was so shiny that when he got around a light, it 
would glow. I had the privilege of riding with him on a trolley 
from time to time when he would go and witness to those 
riding the cable cars, and in between his witnessing, as we 
travelled, I would listen to his stories about India. But, when 
it came to stories about Azusa, I went to his apartment, 
settled at his feet with my cookies and milk, and listened 
intently.  
He shared with me that he was awestruck by the movement 
of God and how the manifestation of God‘s power varied 
according to the degree of the manifestation of the Shekinah 
Glory—the thicker the cloud, the greater the miracles. He was 
also in awe of Brother Seymour. Fox said that this man had to 
be a very deep man of God. 
Fox was present at the miracle when the man‘s arm grew out 
of the socket. During that experience, Brother Fox heard 
from God that he himself would have miracles like 
Seymour‘s, but in a foreign country—a word that proved 
itself over and over again as Brother Fox laboured in India. 
Fox took the anointing with him when he left Azusa, but he 



84 

could not take with him the Shekinah Glory. He explained to 
me that as far as he could tell, the Shekinah Glory was unique 
to the Azusa Street Revival. While at Azusa, Brother Fox 
went around healing everybody he could. He loved to pray 
for the deaf and the mute. 
He would pray for them and whisper in each ear, ―You deaf 
spirit, you come out in the Name of Jesus.‖ He said he could 
hear a little pop and ―whishing‖ sound as the ear would be 
healed, then he would go to the next person and do the same. 
If they couldn‘t talk, he laid hands on their necks. He said, 
―I‘m not one of those who would stick my hand down their 
mouths—they might get excited and bite a finger off.‖ He 
told me that he prayed in the Name of Jesus and sometimes 
they would start talking, but most of the time they would have 
to learn how to talk but they would start making audible 
sounds. Brother Fox remembered a man with his neck 
blackened by a cancer that had eaten up his throat leaving him 
unable to talk. Fox prayed for him, laying hands on the lump 
that protruded from his neck. Looking down at the blackened 
area after the prayer, Brother Fox said, ―I don‘t see anything 
happening; something is wrong here.‖ He asked the man, 
―Are you believing?‖ The man nodded his head. 
―Let‘s do it again.‖ With those words, Brother Fox prayed 
again. This time when he took his hands away, the blackness 
and lump were gone. He commanded the man, ―Talk!‖ The 
man blurted out, ―I can‘t!‖ Fox said, ―Say that again.‖ The 
man realized that a miracle had taken place, and he could talk. 
The cancer was gone, and his throat was restored. 
Immediately, the man started rejoicing and shouting. Brother 
Fox just stood there being the reserved gentleman that he 
was, but you could see the smile as he stood in awe of the 
miracle.  
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God was preparing Brother Fox for great and mighty works 
in India. One lesson he was taught by the Spirit was that you 
didn‘t have to heal people one at a time. He recalled when a 
sign-language teacher brought his class of totally deaf people 
from a school for the deaf to the meeting. ―If you want to 
teach them to sign why did you bring them to a place where 
they would get healed? You‘re going to be out of a job, 
because these people are going to be healed tonight.‖ Brother 
Fox took the teacher by surprise. The teacher responded with 
apparent disbelief, ―You‘re talking like they are all going to get 
healed.‖ ―They are! They all are going to be healed!‖ Brother 
Fox spoke, emboldened by God‘s Spirit.  
This was a group of around 35 deaf people. Without 
wavering, Brother Fox gestured and told them all to join 
hands and form a circle. He looked at the teacher, standing 
nearby, and told the teacher, ―Evidently, you don‘t have much 
faith, so stand off to the side.‖ ―Now, I‘m going to lay hands 
on this man and start with him.‖ Immediately, Fox realized 
that they couldn‘t understand a word he was saying, and the 
teacher was laughing at him because he too understood that 
they couldn‘t hear him. Without hesitation, Brother Fox 
simply whispered in the first man‘s ear and told the spirit to 
come out. The miracle was immediate. As soon as the once-
deaf man could hear, he got excited and when the others saw 
his excitement and that he could hear, they started getting 
healed one by one like a line of dominoes—in just a few 
minutes all of them were healed. Fox had only touched the 
first man in the circle. From that point on, God took over 
and allowed His power to flow through the connected hands 
touching each and everyone gathered in the circle. 
I sat and listened to Brother Fox tell his stories both about 
Azusa and India and the mighty miracles God used him to 
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perform. I couldn‘t help but remember the words recorded in 
the Gospel of John.* Jesus told His disciples, ―He that 
believeth on Me, the works that I do shall he also do; and 
greater works than these shall he do…‖  
Brother Fox had a strong and mighty belief in the power of 
Jesus. He went to God‘s workshop and saw with his very eyes 
the wonder-working power of God. He was used of God at 
Azusa to perform mighty works and took the lessons he had 
learned at Azusa and applied them to his work in India. There 
the blind found sight, the lame could walk, the sick found 
health, and mighty healings were commonplace. The Spirit of 
God worked mightily through Brother Fox. The only thing he 
didn‘t have was the Shekinah Glory. *John 14:12  

Found Faithful  
Meet Sister Goldie   Azusa Age: 18  
―Moreover is it required in stewards, that a man be found 
faithful.‖* Paul‘s words are timeless, but never more 
appropriate than for those touched by God at Azusa. The 
parable of talents found in Matthew 25, stresses that God 
gives us abilities according to His divine purpose, and we are 
to be faithful with what we have been given. With God, it is 
not the number of abilities that is important; it is the use of 
our God-given abilities that God rewards. 
The abilities of those used by God at Azusa were diverse. 
God was preparing some for great and mighty tasks and 
others to simply to be found faithful day-by-day using their 
God-given abilities for His Glory.  
Sister Goldie is one of the Azusa Saints that is worthy of the 
commendation that she was faithful in her service to God. 
You may remember her when we first started this book, for 
she was the one used of God to lead me to know Jesus Christ 



87 

as my personal Saviour. She was also the one who introduced 
me to many of the Azusa Saints residing at Pisgah. In the 
initial chapters, I told you about her ministry at Venice Beach 
and Pisgah. In this chapter, I want to share her stories about 
her days at Azusa. 
Sister Goldie came from Venice Beach to Pisgah once a 
month. She always arrived early so she could tell me her 
stories. Faithful to the tradition that was common among the 
Saints, she brought with her homemade chocolate chip 
cookies and cold milk that she had purchased from Dick‘s 
Market after she got off the bus. With cookies and cold milk 
in hand, she would walk down to Pisgah. 
The truth is, she spoiled me rotten. She bought me my first 
Bible engraved with my name on it. She bought me my first 
dress coat and dress shoes. I was her little project, and she 
loved ministering to me. I was like a son to her; in fact, at 
times she even referred to me as her son. We would meet in 
the back of the dining hall where there were couches and 
chairs. At first, it was just us, but after a few months she 
began to draw an audience of young people and adults who 
just wanted to hear her stories about the mighty works of 
God. She needed very little coaxing. One of the main reasons 
she came to Pisgah each month was to tell her stories, and she 
loved the opportunity to relive those moments she spent 
serving God at Azusa. 
When she was about 18 years old, she started attending the 
Azusa revival, and attended for about two years, from 1908-
1910. She was already a Christian and didn‘t need healing, but 
she wanted to be a part of what was happening at Azusa 
Street. 
She got involved with Sister Carney, and asked her how she 
did what she did. Sister Carney explained that they were part 



88 

of a great revival that and others had prayed for God to send. 
Sister Carney explained that they worked with the people 
gathered for the meeting until Brother Seymour came down. 
They continued to minister to the people even while Brother 
Seymour had the box on his head. She told Sister Goldie, 
―Even after he comes down, we have between ten minutes to 
an hour while Brother Seymour has the box on his head. 
When he takes the box off, you go sit down.‖ Goldie watched 
Carney for a few days—what she did and how she did it—
then started finding people to bless. 
Sister Goldie was drawn to people with obvious 
disfigurements. One such young man had a bow in his arm. 
He had broken his arm in a ballgame at school several years 
prior. For some reason, he never saw a doctor and the bones 
had never been reset. She looked at the man and said, ―This is 
going to be fun.‖ The young man looked at her and said, ―It‘s 
going to be what?‖ Sister Goldie repeated herself, ―It‘s going 
to be fun.‖ She took his deformed arm in one hand and 
touched the bowed bones with her other hand. She looked 
straight at the arm and said, ―I take all authority over you and 
I command you in the Name of Jesus, straighten out!‖ 
Immediately and miraculously, the arm healed and 
straightened—no noise, no popping—and quietly became 
normal. She was drawn to people who had disfigurements or 
ugly growths on their faces and would pray for them. After 
the first couple of healings where the growths or tumours just 
fell off in her hand, she began to carry towels with her. 
Sometimes she had to bandage the area where the growth had 
been because the tumours or growths would come off and 
leave a wound in the flesh. 
Sometimes, the total miracle was not instantaneous. The 
tumour would come off, but the complete healing may have 



89 

taken hours—even overnight. As she prayed for these people, 
the growth, goitre, tumour or whatever would come off in 
Sister Goldie‘s hand. 
She would seek people out. Most people just tolerated small 
growths on their faces and didn‘t seek healing, but Sister 
Goldie had other thoughts. She was instrumental in healing 
perhaps 3,000 tumours and facial growths during the two 
years she attended the revival services. From Azusa to Venice 
Beach, from 1908 until her death, this dear Saint was found 
faithfully serving God with each and every gift and ability He 
had entrusted to her. She has since gone on to be with the 
Lord, and I am certain she heard the words, ―Well done My 
good and faithful servant.‖  *1 Corinthians 4:2  

Life Beyond Azusa  
Meet Brother Brown   Azusa Age: 16  
―I shall be telling this with a sigh someday ages and ages 
hence. Two roads diverged in a yellow wood…‖ So wrote 
Robert Frost in his famous poem, ―The Road Not Taken‖. 
Throughout this book, we have shared the stories of Azusa 
Saints ages and ages hence—some 60 years later. The Azusa 
Street Revival ended in 1910. For a host of possible reasons, 
the Shekinah Glory left—never to return. The effects of 
Azusa on the lives of those who were there were as varied as 
the people themselves. 
At least two great denominations, The Assemblies of God 
and The Church of God in Christ, were born out of Azusa by 
leaders such as Ralph Riggs, C.W. Ward, and Charles 
Harrison Mason. We met two men, Brother Fox and Brother 
Lake, who went on to serve the Lord in a powerful way as 
missionaries to India and South Africa. Two of these dear 
Saints went on to establish missions for the downtrodden and 
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needy. One man travelled throughout the Midwestern United 
States leading revivals and founding churches. There is no 
question that for many, life beyond Azusa was but a 
continuation of serving God. 
Then there were others who just allowed Azusa to be a 
footnote in their lives. Once the miracles ceased, and life got 
back to the normal and ordinary, Azusa just lived in faded 
memories. Then there were others so impressed with Azusa 
that life just stopped there. Like Peter on the Mount of 
Transfiguration*, who wanted to build three tabernacles and 
just stay there with Jesus forever, there were some Saints who 
spent the remainder of their lives just reliving the memories 
and basking in the glory of days past when Azusa was alive 
and well. 
I met such a man in 1960. Bill Brown had arrived and retired 
at Pisgah just about six months before my arrival. When I met 
him, he stood several inches over six feet, and had a medium 
build, weighing around 200 pounds. He lived in the dormitory 
with me and constantly wanted to talk about Azusa—in fact 
that is all he wanted to talk about. From time to time, we 
would go down to the dining hall, and he would be in 
―heaven‖ as he got a chance to relive his days at Azusa. 
Brother Brown loved ministering to those who were blind. 
He shared with me that while he was at Azusa, he was 
involved in participating in the healing of over 50 blind 
people, and each and every time the healing was 
instantaneous. 
I asked Brother Brown if any particular healing stood out in 
his mind, and he shared the story of a woman whose eyes 
were totally dark, almost black, with no white showing 
anywhere. The whites of her eyes had never developed, and 
she had been blind from birth. The reason this miracle stood 
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out in his memory is that when she opened her eyes after he 
prayed for her, and she realized she could see, the lady let out 
a loud, blood-curdling scream that caused him to jump back 
in momentary fear. When her eyes opened and Brother 
Brown saw the whites of her eyes, he was just about ready to 
start shouting himself, but her scream was so sudden and 
unexpected it caught him by surprise. After the shock wore 
off, they both began to rejoice.  
All of his miracles were not with the blind. He participated in 
miracles for the crippled, deformed, and those confined to 
wheelchairs due to illness or physical disabilities. He recalled 
one time going up to a man who was lying on a cot. Brother 
Brown asked him, ―Do you want to be healed? Do you want 
to take up your cot and carry it home?‖ 
The man looked up and smiled. ―Yes.‖ His response was 
simple, but clear. Brother Bill prayed for him, and 
immediately, he got up, folded up his cot, then went around 
worshipping God. Before the man left the meeting, he went 
back to where he had been confined to the cot, picked it up, 
and carried his cot away while rejoicing that he had been 
healed.  
While Sister Carney and Brothers Ward, Riggs, and Anderson 
were running around seeking out people to minister to, 
Brother Brown was more subdued. Being more of a loner, he 
wandered around looking for blind people to whom he could 
minister. 
That was then. Even after the departure of the Shekinah 
Glory, for the next several years, Brother Brown would return 
to the Azusa Street Church where Seymour still preached. He 
didn‘t go there with anticipation of seeing God move 
mightily, rather he went back there moping around, saddened 
by the loss of what had been. He would sit in the service and 
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weep for the loss of yesterday. In 1960, there were no blind 
people being healed by Brother Brown. There was no legacy 
of being used by God as a minister or missionary. In fact, he 
had nothing but regrets. He had told me that he had spent a 
lifetime remembering Azusa, but never moved on. He would 
wistfully tell me that he should have been preaching the 
Gospel, or that he should have been a missionary like Brother 
Fox, but regretfully, he told me he had missed God‘s purpose 
or will for his life. For over fifty years, he lived in the past, 
sitting around daydreaming about the yesteryears of Azusa. 
Wasted years! Now retired with his productive years behind 
him, he settled among the Saints of Azusa where he could 
share his stories with those who would understand and 
welcome his additions to the Azusa legacy. But when he 
wasn‘t sharing his past, he was sad, if not miserable. 
Somehow, yesterday doesn‘t fulfil today‘s cravings to 
experience God in a fresh and vital way.  
Often, I would leave my meeting with Brother Brown with 
mixed emotions. I shared his joy of Azusa, but I felt helpless 
when faced with the sadness of this dear brother. How could 
one who had been used of God to heal so many who were 
blind, have been so blind? *Matthew 17:4  
May We Seek And Experience God Daily  
My prayer for all of us is, ―Dear Lord, don‘t let me miss You! 
Use me everyday in a mighty way. Let me feel Your Presence 
and Your fresh renewal each and every day of my life. I thank 
You for the memories of yesterday, but I need to experience 
You today and expect great things from You tomorrow. 
Yesterday is gone, but today and tomorrow I live in 
expectation of a new and wonderful outpouring of Your 
Mighty Spirit all around me. Amen!‖  
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God’s Formula Hasn’t Changed  

H.O.P.E. For the Outpouring of God’s Presence  
Azusa has often been imitated but never duplicated. God has 
a formula and a timetable that is His and His alone. In about 
1910, William Seymour prophesied that God would visit His 
people in about a hundred years. Now that the hundred years 
are upon us, there is anticipation that we will soon experience 
the Shekinah Glory like the Azusa Saints at the turn of the 
twentieth century. This will only happen if God‘s people 
follow God‘s formula. 
Thousands of years ago, God told His people that if they 
would humble themselves and pray and seek His face and 
turn from their wicked ways, then He would hear their 
prayers and forgive their sins and heal their land (2Chr 7:14). 
Azusa showed us this formula in action. This great 
outpouring can be summarized by four basic characteristics: 
Humility, Obedience, Prayer, and Expectation—the 
foundation of 2 Chronicles 7:14. These four requirements 
spell out the acrostic H.O.P.E., and indeed within these 
requirements is our HOPE for God‘s outpouring of His 
Presence on His people. 
Humility is God‘s style. Remember the stable that was used at 
Bethlehem? Remember the stable that was used at Azusa? 
Remember the box over Brother Seymour‘s head? Obedience 
was obvious. Those involved in ushering in this manifestation 
of God‘s Mighty Presence sought His face and truly turned 
from their wicked ways. There was a holiness at Azusa where 
people lived in strict obedience to God‘s commandment to 
love one another and to love God with all their heart. Prayer 
was vital to God‘s visitation. Men and women had gathered 
months and years on their knees in fervent prayer, earnestly 
imploring God to send renewal and revival. Expectations 
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were high. These men and women believed in their prayers. 
They were persistent and prayed in one accord, believing that 
God would hear the prayers of His Saints who in purity of 
heart and thought, totally surrendered to His Lordship. They 
prayed without ceasing and without doubt that soon they 
would experience the desires of their hearts. H.O.P.E.! 
Azusa is our anchor. We know God is listening and waiting to 
fall fresh on His people and His creation once again. He will 
come again and visit us before it is all over. We will see God 
in a Cloud of Glory—the Shekinah Glory—come and dwell 
among us. We will see His Mighty Spirit, clothed in fire, fall 
on us, exulting the Power of God. This is our HOPE, and 
steadfastly we hold to these beliefs. 
Dear Lord Use Us! We know the time draws near for Your 
return. Someday soon, You will come in might and splendour. 
We know that someday soon every knee shall bow and 
confess You as King of Kings and Lord of Lords, triumphant 
in Your mission to bring redemption to creation. 
We believe that soon, before Your final appearance as 
conquering King, that we will again be honoured by a great 
and might visitation and outpouring of Your Spirit. We 
believe that Azusa was but a foreshadowing of what will come 
just prior to the final days. As we seek to make ourselves 
worthy, hear the prayers of our hearts. Convict us of our sins 
as we seek Your face and turn from any wickedness that 
would separate us from You. Isaiah captures our hearts. ―We 
are all as an unclean thing, and all our righteousness is as 
filthy rags…but now, O Lord, thou art our father; we are the 
clay, and thou our potter; and we all are the work of thy 
hand.‖ Use us, as we humble ourselves, and fervently pray, 
and seek Your face and turn from our wicked ways, use us to 
usher in Your Visitation. Amen  
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Does God Want To Touch Your Life? • 

If you have been touched by these stories and want to make 
Jesus Christ your personal Saviour, all God requires is:  
1. You Acknowledge you have sinned We are told, ―All have 
sinned and come short of the Glory of God‖ (Romans 3:23). 
2. You Believe and Confess that Jesus Christ is the Son of 
God who came to save you from your sin Paul tells us, ―If 
you will confess with your mouth the Lord Jesus, and believe 
in your heart that God raised Him from the dead, you will be 
saved‖ (Romans 10:9). • 
If you desire to make Jesus your Lord and Saviour, simply 
pray a prayer such as this: 
 “Dear Jesus, I confess I am a sinner in need of your saving grace. 
Forgive me of my sins, and come into my heart as my Lord and Saviour. 
Thank you for hearing my prayer and giving me everlasting life.”  
If you just prayed that prayer, then welcome to the family of 
God!  If you want to know more about your new life in Christ 
or more about the Baptism of the Holy Spirit and the Gifts 
these stories talk about, please contact us  
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When Heaven Came Down 
Larry Martin, Ph.D. 

http://across.co.nz/HeavenCame.html 
One of the earliest reports we read was from The Pentecostal 
Herald. J.M. Taylor wrote,  
"Men, women and children—boys and girls of 10 and 12 
years of age, young men and maidens, preachers, deaconesses, 
mission workers and business men of all colours, races, 
denominations, and stages of culture, intelligence and means 
are receiving the mighty baptism of power, and speak 'with 
tongues and prophesy.'" 
Other reports criticized the revival and especially the pastor 
of the mission, William J. Seymour. The Nazarene Messenger 
said the movement had "as much influence as a pebble 
thrown in the sea." The Beulah Christian said it was "Satan 
transformed into an angel of light." 
I paid little attention to the negative words because my heart 
bore witness as I read the good reports. I wondered if what 
people were experiencing at Azusa could be the baptism in 
the Holy Spirit that D.L. Moody had spoken so fondly about 
before he passed away. Evan Roberts also testified that he 
had received a baptism before the great revival began in 
Wales. We hoped that this was our chance to see a nation-
shaking move of God. 
I had often asked God for this baptism of power, and my 
heart yearned to visit the Azusa Street Mission, officially titled 
the Apostolic Faith Gospel Mission. I began to pray earnestly 
for provision, and in the will and timing of God He granted 
the resources for my trip. 
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It was a beautiful journey. I had never been west of the 
Mississippi River. Along the way, I visited some Holiness 
missions. 
In Houston, I spent much of the day at the Apostolic Faith 
Mission. It was here that Seymour first heard the Pentecostal 
truths from Charles F. Parham, who had subsequently gone 
to minister in Zion, Illinois. The workers at the Houston 
mission spoke warmly of Bishop Seymour. 
I received a different report of him in Denver, however. At 
the Pillar of Fire church, no one spoke highly about him or 
the mission. It seems that he also stopped here on his way to 
California. 
The leader of the work in Denver, Alma White, accused 
Seymour of demon possession. I was so discouraged (and 
even frightened) by the criticism that I almost returned home, 
but when I prayed I felt the peace of God. I knew this was 
just the devil trying to keep me from my Pentecost. Later I 
learned that when Mrs White's husband received the baptism 
in the Holy Ghost, she refused to follow him in the ministry. 
When my train finally arrived in Los Angeles, I didn't know 
where to go or who to ask for directions. But workers from 
the mission were at the station to welcome me and other 
pilgrims to Los Angeles. 
It was a short distance from the station to the mission on 
Azusa Street. The closer we got to the church, the worse the 
neighbourhood looked. Warehouses, saloons and other 
broken-down buildings surrounded the tiny mission. 
If I had been expecting a grand cathedral, I would have been 
sadly disappointed. The building was on a dead-end street. It 
had rained the night before, and the entire area had turned to 
mud. There was no pavement to walk on and not even a 
boardwalk into the building. 
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The building itself was in the shape of a square box. I heard 
that it had been an attractive church previously but that a fire 
had taken off the gables, which were replaced by a flat roof. 
The building was scarred by the fire and was in bad need of 
painting. A "For Sale" sign was still visible on the side. 
I was amazed at how many people were present. Bodies were 
everywhere! Inside the building, outside at every window, 
upstairs and downstairs. It was the middle of the day, yet 
hundreds were packed into the place. 
Inside, the saints were singing. Oh, what singing! I didn't 
know it at the time, but it was their favourite song, "The 
Comforter Has Come":  

"The Comforter has come, the Comforter has come! 
The Holy Ghost from Heav'n, the Father's promise giv'n 

O spread the tidings 'round, wherever man is found 
The Comforter has come!" 

The old mission literally rocked as everyone sang at the tops 
of their voices. There were no instruments; none were needed 
because the voices filled the room. People were clapping their 
hands, shouting and praising God. 
I had never seen anything like it in my life. I had been to 
camp meetings, but nothing could compare to the joy and 
exuberance in this little room. It was as if the place would 
explode. 
Another thing that struck me was that people of different 
races were all worshiping together. Being from the South, 
where racial tension is an issue, I was quite shocked by this 
demonstration of love. Here, blacks, whites, Hispanics and 
Asians all treated one another as brothers and sisters. Frank 
Bartleman, one of the pastors in town testified and said, "The 
blood of Jesus washed the colour-line away." 
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I looked around the room trying to spot the leader, Bishop 
Seymour. I expected him to be seated in a prominent 
position, but I was surprised when I located him. He was 
sitting behind the "pulpit" (two wooden crates stacked on top 
of each other and covered with a cloth) and had his head 
bowed low inside it. He wept and prayed throughout the 
worship. 
Finally, the singing stopped, and Brother Seymour stood to 
speak. He was of average size and build and had a visible film 
over one eye. People told me that a bout with smallpox left 
him blind. 
Some of the Holiness papers had hinted that Seymour was 
illiterate. It was obvious that he was not. He read from the 
Bible and exhorted us on the coming of the Lord. He spoke 
with a strong Cajun accent that testified to his south 
Louisiana roots. 
In an illustration, he told us that his father had been a Union 
soldier in the War Between the States. I wondered if his father 
had met mine in battle. It seemed strange that our fathers may 
have faced each other across the embattlements of war and 
now we faced each other over God's altar. 
Seymour was not a loud, demonstrative preacher as many of 
his Southern counterparts were. Instead, he spoke quietly, 
almost in a hush, teaching us about the Lord's return to 
Earth. 
The Holy Spirit's conviction was strong. When he finished his 
message, Seymour called the repentant to the altar—a long 
redwood plank. Almost everyone in the building pressed 
forward. If there were aisles, they disappeared. 
I have never seen such repentance. Grown men were weeping 
under the weight of their sins. It did not impress me that 
these were wicked men and women. They appeared to be 
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good and godly people, stirred by their Master to a closer 
walk. After the prayer time, there was another round of 
singing. This time something absolutely remarkable happened. 
Someone on one side of the building began singing in 
tongues. Another person joined in. Across the building other 
voices blended together. 
I had never heard anything like this, but I learned it was a 
frequent occurrence at the mission. They call the 
phenomenon the "heavenly choir," and the faithful pray that 
they can participate. 
When the music faded, various people in the audience began 
to share testimonies. One lady said she had suffered from a 
blood disease for decades. She had been to the best doctors in 
California but had received no relief. 
While at a service in the mission she felt the power of the 
Holy Ghost. She said her body shook from head to toe. The 
next day she knew she was healed. A return to her doctors 
confirmed that a miracle had been wrought in her life. 
Her testimony was followed by a round of boisterous praise. 
One lady began to shout and dance across the floor, spinning 
in circles. 
There was great freedom in the service, but at the same time 
perfect order. In fact, in a later service when someone became 
loud and began drawing attention to himself, Brother 
Seymour stopped the demonstration and gave a short lecture 
on bringing glory to God and not to self. 
There were several other reports of notable healings, but the 
best testimony was that of a man from India. Every eye was 
on this foreign guest when he stood up to testify. 
The man had worked on a ship that brought him to Los 
Angeles. He was a Hindu and had never heard the gospel. 
Somehow he found himself at Azusa Street. While he was 
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there, a little girl in the mission stood on a bench and began 
to speak in tongues. She was speaking in the Hindi language. 
She told the surprised guest about his life, named his sins and 
told him that Jesus is the Saviour. 
After the service, the man learned that the child had never 
been to India and didn't know one word of his native 
language. His life was forever changed. He said he had begun 
reading the Bible and looked forward to returning to India to 
share the gospel with his family. 
As the service began to wind down, I realized it was past 
midnight. I had been at the mission for 10 hours! 
I was invited to spend the night with several gospel workers 
who were living in the second-story apartments in the 
mission. I could barely sleep as I reflected on my first day at 
Azusa. I was hungry for God. I wanted my own Pentecost. 
Morning came early at Azusa. Services at the church began at 
10 a.m., but there was something happening almost around 
the clock. On this morning there were papers to sort and 
mail. The mission produced a newspaper, The Apostolic 
Faith, and it had to be mailed around the world. The paper 
contained sermons and testimonies from Azusa and from 
others who had received the Pentecostal experience. All the 
workers and guests lent a hand to the project. I have never 
seen such unity among the saints. 
Today was remarkable at the mission. There were several 
notable people in attendance, though no one was given 
special treatment. There was such a respect for what God was 
doing that speakers were never introduced and people 
refrained from greeting one another when they came inside. 
Instead, they quietly bowed to acknowledge God's presence. 
Samuel Mead, a Methodist missionary, testified that since he 
had been at the mission he had heard people speak in African 
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dialects. George Studd also spoke in the morning session. He 
and his brother C.T. were from a wealthy English family and 
had received notoriety in the sports world. Then C.T. became 
a missionary and George came to worship at Azusa. 
In the evening service, Dr A.S. Worrell, a noted scholar and 
publisher, greeted the congregation. He has served at a 
number of Bible colleges as instructor, dean and president. 
Recently he translated the New Testament from the Greek. 
Worrell shared several reasons why he believed the Apostolic 
Faith movement was from God. 
He said there was "a mighty power for witnessing, a 
wonderful love for souls … the blood of Christ is exalted … 
the Word of God is honoured," and there is a "bestowment" 
of the "gift of tongues" and "several other gifts of the Spirit." 
It was encouraging to see these men and others of rank and 
position at the dilapidated mission. On the inside, the dirt 
floors stirred up a cloud when people shuffled around. The 
ceiling was so low that tall men had to stoop. The walls were 
unfinished, and the room was furnished with mismatched 
furniture and plank benches. 
The heat was often stifling. But no one cared. The rich and 
the poor, the cultured and the simple worshiped shoulder-to-
shoulder because God was in the house. Bishop Seymour 
constantly emphasized the need for a sanctified life. To him 
the most important thing was not the baptism in the Holy 
Spirit, but a holy life. The conviction was incredible. 
A local pastor, A.G. Garr, stood one day and said that God 
had dealt with him because he had had an argument with 
another pastor. Three times Garr rode his bicycle across the 
city, intending to apologize to his estranged friend. Each time 
the Lord spoke to him and told him that he wasn't truly 
sincere. Finally, broken by the conviction, Garr made peace 
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with his brother and his Lord. Such heartfelt repentance and 
obedience to God, more than anything, was the spirit of 
Azusa Street. 
No one asked for an offering during my entire visit. This, too, 
was amazing. One night a brother stood and said God had 
called him to India. Without any appeal except the appeal of 
the Holy Spirit a man in the back said, "I will give $500 to 
help him." Someone else offered $200. In only minutes, his 
need had been supplied. 
On my last day at the mission, we had a prayer meeting in the 
upper room. The workers often gathered in this upstairs 
room to pray, work and share the wonders of the Lord. 
Today they were reading testimony letters. 
One was from T.B. Barrett, a Methodist pastor from Norway, 
who wrote to say he had received the Holy Ghost baptism 
after reading The Apostolic Faith and meeting some Azusa 
pilgrims on their way to the mission field. The glory of the 
Lord filled the room as we rejoiced. 
Then G.B. Cashwell, who was with us, and who later helped 
lead several denominations into the Pentecostal movement, 
told us his story. He said that as a Southern gentleman, he had 
been offended by the mixing of the races at Azusa's altar. He 
almost left for home right after he arrived, but in his hotel 
room the Holy Spirit crucified his flesh. Now he was glad he 
had stayed until his Pentecost was fully come. 
That evening I was hungry for more of God. Bishop Seymour 
preached on the baptism in the Holy Ghost. He said, "When 
we have a clear knowledge of justification and sanctification, 
through the precious blood of Jesus Christ in our hearts, then 
we can be a recipient of the baptism in the Holy Ghost." I 
knew he was talking just to me. 
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He continued: "The Lord Jesus is always ready to fill the 
hungry, thirsty soul. … Praise our God, He is the same 
yesterday, today and forever. Receive Him just now and He 
will fill you." 
While Brother Seymour continued to speak I felt the power 
of God fill my very being. At first I felt just a tingle, but then 
my entire body began to shake and my tongue to quiver. 
Suddenly, I was speaking in a language I had never learned. 
This was my time! This was my baptism in the Holy Ghost! It 
was wonderful beyond words. 
That night I slept little. I spoke in tongues all night, praising 
and glorifying God, who had saved me, sanctified me and 
baptized me in the Holy Ghost. 
I could hardly wait to get back to Alabama and share the good 
news: The Comforter has come. It seemed as if the train 
floated along the tracks. At every stop, God gave me an 
opportunity to testify. 
The apostles had the upper room and Paul the road to 
Damascus, but I will always be grateful to God that I met 
Him at a ramshackle old mission on an unpaved, dead-end 
road called Azusa Street. 
Larry Martin, PH.D., pastors Pensacola Revival Church in Pensacola, 
Florida. For five years he served as academic dean for the Brownsville 
Revival School of Ministry. He is the author of The Life and Ministry 
of William J. Seymour and editor of The Complete Azusa Street 
Library. 
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Pentecostal Pioneers 

E.J. Boehmer 

(1881-1953) 
Edward John Boehmer met evangelist Frank Bartleman in 
1905 while working at Peniel Mission in Pasadena, California. 
Sharing a burden for revival, they often prayed all night for 
spiritual renewal in Southern California. Their prayers were 
answered with the Holy Spirit outpouring in Los Angeles the 
following year. Initially sceptical about the gift of tongues, 
Boehmer, who was of German descent, became convinced 
after hearing a man speak in perfect German. Boehmer 
received the Holy Spirit baptism at Azusa Street in August 
1907 and noted: "Though we have the Holy Ghost and enjoy 
His sweet presence, there is still a longing to be made more 
like Jesus. We see room for more humility, and down we go 
again and again before the Lord in earnest prayer, asking Him 
for those things that rightfully belong to those whom He has 
purchased with His own blood." Boehmer then evangelized in 
the Appalachian Mountains and united with the Church of 
God (Cleveland, Tennessee). 

F.F. Bosworth 

(1877-1958) 
Fred Francis Bosworth was one of the first to be baptized in 
the Holy Spirit at John Alexander Dowie's church in Zion 
City, Illinois, when Bible teacher Charles F. Parham preached 
there in September 1906. In 1910 Bosworth established a 
racially integrated Pentecostal church in Dallas. Bosworth 
attended the first general council of the Assemblies of God 
(AG) in 1914 and later served as an executive presbyter. He 
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left the AG in 1918 because of his belief that the gift of 
tongues was only one form of evidence of the Holy Spirit 
baptism. He then ministered with the Christian and 
Missionary Alliance, conducting large crusades throughout the 
U.S. and Canada. Numerous healings were reported in his 
meetings, including sight being restored to the blind. 
Bosworth also organized a successful radio ministry in Chicago. 
He influenced the post-World War II healing revival and even 
assisted evangelist William Branham in his healing crusades. 
Bosworth's later years were spent in missions work in Africa. 

G.B. Cashwell 

(1862-1916) 
Gaston Barnabus Cashwell, a Holiness evangelist from North 
Carolina, visited the Azusa Street Mission in November 1906. 
Initially resisting prayer from blacks, he returned to Azusa 
after seeking the Lord and asked William Seymour to lay 
hands on him. "While seeking in an upstairs room in the 
mission, the Lord opened up the windows of heaven and the 
light of God began to flow over me in such power as never 
before," Cashwell remembered. "I then went into the room 
where the service was held, and … before I knew it, I began 
to speak in tongues and praise God." Cashwell returned to 
North Carolina and conducted a successful revival in Dunn in 
January 1907. That year he also began publishing the 
Bridegroom's Messenger. He helped introduce Pentecostal 
doctrine to several organizations, including the Pentecostal 
Holiness Church, which started in the 1890s as an outgrowth 
of the National Holiness Association movement. Because of 
his widespread evangelistic campaigns, Cashwell became 
known as the "evangelist to the South." 
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Glenn A. Cook 

(1867-1948) 
Glenn A. Cook, a newspaper journalist in Los Angeles, 
initially rejected the validity of William Seymour's preaching 
and sought to correct what he believed was doctrinal error. 
However, he soon changed his mind and explained: "After 
asking forgiveness of Brother Seymour and all the rest for all 
my hard sayings I fell on my face and began to pour out my 
soul in prayer. … When I had just about given up all hope, 
the Holy Ghost fell on me as I lay in bed at home. I seemed 
to be in a trance for about 24 hours and the next day in the 
meeting began to speak in tongues." Cook then became 
business manager at the Apostolic Faith Mission and assisted 
Seymour in publishing The Apostolic Faith. In 1907 he 
introduced the Pentecostal message to Indianapolis. In 1914, 
after being re-baptized in the name of Jesus, Cook became a 
pioneer minister in the Oneness Pentecostal movement. 

Emma "Mother" Cotton 

(1877-1952) 
"God was exalted and the power fell… People left their big churches and 
temples and went to that old barn to pray. The lame, the halt and the 
blind came and God healed them… The saints were so saturated with 
the power of God that the thing swept the city." So wrote Emma 
"Mother" Cotton when reflecting on the Azusa Street Revival. 
Among the first to receive the Holy Spirit baptism at William 
Seymour's initial meetings on Bonnie Brae Street, Mother 
Cotton continued as a worker when the mission moved to 
Azusa Street. A songwriter, she penned several early gospel 
favourites, and some historians believe she wrote "When the 
Saints Go Marching In." She and her husband, Henry, were 
close friends with healing evangelist Aimee Semple 
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McPherson and were invited often to preach at McPherson's 
Angelus Temple. McPherson encouraged the Cottons to 
organize the Azusa Pentecostal Temple in Los Angeles, which 
today is known as Crouch Memorial Pentecostal Church of 
God in Christ, where the Cottons ministered until their deaths. 

Florence "Mother" Crawford 

(1872-1936) 
"I looked around to see if anybody saw me go in, but I would 
not have cared if the whole world saw me go out," wrote 
Florence "Mother" Crawford in describing her first visit to 
the Azusa Street Mission in 1906. The daughter of atheists, 
she heard God speak to her at a dance and was soon 
converted. She then became active in benevolence work and 
social organizations. Desiring a deeper experience with God, 
Crawford learned about the Azusa Street Revival, where she 
received the Holy Spirit baptism and spoke in tongues. 
Although her husband rejected her faith and left her, she was 
an active worker at the Azusa Street Mission until 1907. 
Disapproving of Seymour's marriage to Jennie Evans Moore, 
Mother Crawford left Los Angeles, taking with her the 
mailing list for The Apostolic Faith paper. She founded the 
Apostolic Faith Church in Portland, Oregon, and served as its 
general overseer until her death. 

William H. Durham 

(1873-1912) 
William H. Durham was baptized in the Holy Spirit at the 
Azusa Street Mission in 1907. "His mighty power came over 
me, until I jerked and quaked under it for about three hours," 
Durham testified. "He finished the work on my vocal organs, 
and spoke through me in unknown tongues. … I had a depth 
of love and sweetness in my soul that I had never even 
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dreamed of before." Seymour prophesied that the Holy Spirit 
would fall wherever Durham preached. Durham evangelized 
across the U.S., with miraculous healings occurring in his 
services. He later led the North Avenue Mission in Chicago 
and began publishing The Pentecostal Testimony paper. 
Durham developed the doctrine of the "finished work" of 
Christ on Calvary, which suggested that sanctification is a 
gradual process attained throughout a Christian's life. 
Contrary to many early Pentecostals' view of sanctification as 
an instantaneous experience, the "finished work" has gained 
wide acceptance among contemporary Pentecostals and 
charismatics. Durham died of pneumonia in 1912. 

C.H. Mason 

(1866-1961) 
The son of former slaves, Charles Harrison Mason desired 
the same spiritual passion as those who endured slavery. In 
1897 Mason and Charles Price Jones co-founded the Church 
of God in Christ (COGIC) as a holiness organization. Mason, 
who attended the Azusa Street Revival in 1906, wrote: "As I 
arose from the altar and took my seat, I fixed my eyes on 
Jesus, and the Holy Ghost took charge of me. I surrendered 
perfectly to Him and consented to Him. Then I began singing 
a song in unknown tongues, and it was the sweetest thing to 
have Him sing that song through me." When Jones rejected 
Mason's new experience, Mason reorganized COGIC in 
Tennessee in 1907 as a Pentecostal denomination. Mason also 
ordained a large number of white Pentecostal ministers before 
1914, when many of them separated to form the Assemblies 
of God. Until his death, Mason led COGIC, which is based in 
Memphis. Currently it is the largest Pentecostal denomination 
in the United States. 
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Elmer Kirk Fisher 

(1866-1919) 
A Moody Bible Institute graduate, Elmer Fisher was a pastor 
in California. In 1906 he received the Holy Spirit baptism at 
pastor Joseph Smale's New Testament Church in Los 
Angeles. Fisher then worked with William Seymour at the 
Azusa Street Mission, being left in charge for four months in 
Seymour's absence. Fisher, who believed in order in worship 
and did not allow all to speak who felt prompted by the Holy 
Spirit to do so, established and pastored the Upper Room 
Mission in Los Angeles. He also published The Upper Room 
paper. Fisher was passionate about leading his family into the 
Pentecostal experience. Following the healing of his daughter, 
Myrtle, he testified: "All the family … laid our hands on 
[Myrtle's] head and each one prayed for her healing. A 
wonderful spirit of song came upon us. The Spirit sang the 
songs of Zion through our lips. … When the song stopped, 
[Myrtle] said, 'O Papa, I have seen Jesus.'" 

A.G. Garr Sr. 

(1874-1944) 
After completing Asbury College in Wilmore, Kentucky, 
Alfred Goodrich Garr Sr. pastored the Burning Bush Mission 
in Los Angeles. In June 1906 he became the first white pastor 
to receive the Holy Spirit baptism at the Azusa Street Mission, 
but his church rejected his spiritual experience. Garr and his 
wife, Lillian, believed they had received Indian dialects when 
they spoke in tongues, and the couple left Los Angeles in 
1907 as missionaries to India, China, Sri Lanka and Japan. 
Initially believing that "tongues" were given to preach to 
people of other languages, Garr modified his teaching after 
realizing he did not actually have an Indian dialect, even 
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though he once spoke Bengali supernaturally while praying 
with a convert. Instead, he focused on tongues as a prayer 
language. Returning to the U.S. in 1911, Garr led revivals and 
emphasized faith healing. Following a 1930 revival in 
Charlotte, North Carolina, he organized Garr Memorial 
Church, which he pastored until his death. 

John G. Lake 

(1870-1935) 
Ordained at age 21, John Graham Lake left the ministry for a 
successful career in business. Then in 1898, he returned to 
ministry after his wife was healed of tuberculosis under the 
ministry of John Alexander Dowie. Lake then served for 
several years as an elder at Dowie's church in Zion City, 
Illinois. Baptized in the Holy Spirit in 1907 after seeking the 
experience for nine months, Lake felt called to missions work. 
In 1908 he and his family arrived in Africa, where they helped 
establish the Apostolic Faith Mission. There Lake endured 
many difficulties, including the death of his wife. He returned 
to the U.S. in 1912 and ministered primarily in the Northwest, 
where he started churches and organized healing centres. 
Despite his own poor health, Lake continued to pray for the 
sick until his death in 1935. Thousands were healed as a result 
of his ministry. 

The Untold Story of William J. Seymour 
Most Pentecostal and charismatic Christians have heard of 
the revival at Azusa Street. Many even know the revival was 
led by a black man, William J. Seymour. Unfortunately, most 
know almost nothing else about this significant leader of early 
Pentecostalism. 
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Even worse, some of what has been written about Seymour 
has been based on fictitious accounts, resulting in a biography 
buried in obscurity and inaccuracy. This is the seldom-told 
story of the man that Yale University scholar Sidney Ahlstrom 
called "the most influential black leader in American religious 
history." William Joseph Seymour was born May 2, 1870, in 
Centerville, Louisiana. His parents, Simon Seymour, also 
known as Simon Simon, and Phillis Salabar, were former 
slaves. Phillis was born and reared on the Adilard Carlin 
plantation near Centerville, in St. Mary's Parish. 
When President Lincoln signed the Emancipation 
Proclamation, ending slavery in the rebel states, Simon 
enlisted in the Northern Army and served until the end of the 
Civil War. While with the United States Coloured Troops he 
marched across the Southern Gulf states of Louisiana, 
Mississippi, Alabama and Florida. During his service, he 
became very ill and was hospitalized in New Orleans. From 
descriptions of his symptoms, it seems he may have 
contracted malaria or another tropical disease in the Southern 
swamps. Simon never fully recovered. William Seymour, the 
oldest in a large family, lived his early years in abject poverty. 
In 1896 the family's possessions were listed as "one old 
bedstead, one old chair and one old mattress." All of his 
mother's personal property was valued at 55 cents. Seymour 
also suffered the injustice and prejudice of the Reconstruction 
South. Violence against freedmen was common, and groups 
such as the Ku Klux Klan terrorized southern Louisiana. 
As a child, Seymour was exposed to various Christian 
traditions. His parents were married by a Methodist preacher; 
the infant William was baptized in the Roman Catholic 
Church in Franklin, Louisiana; and Simon and Phillis were 
buried on the grounds of a Baptist church. 
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Many accounts of Seymour's life imply that he was illiterate. 
This is not true. He attended a freedman's school in 
Centerville and learned to read and write. In fact, his signature 
shows a good penmanship. 
Fleeing the poverty and oppression of life in southern 
Louisiana, Seymour left his home during early adulthood. He 
travelled and worked in Indiana, Ohio, Illinois and other 
states. He often worked as a waiter in expensive, large-city 
hotels. 
In Indianapolis, Seymour was converted in a Methodist 
church. Soon, however, he joined the Church of God 
Reformation movement in Anderson, Indiana. At the time, 
the group was called the Evening Light Saints. While a part of 
this conservative Holiness group, Seymour was sanctified and 
called to preach. 
In Cincinnati, after a near-fatal bout with smallpox, Seymour 
yielded to the call to ministry. The illness left him blind in one 
eye and scarred his face. For the rest of his life he wore a 
beard to hide the scars. 
In 1905 Seymour was in Houston, where he heard the 
Pentecostal message for the first time. He attended a Bible 
school led by Charles F. Parham. Parham was the founder of 
the Apostolic Faith Movement, and he is considered the 
father of the modern Pentecostal-charismatic revival. At a 
Bible school in Topeka, Kansas, Parham's followers had 
received the baptism in the Holy Spirit and had spoken in 
tongues. 
Because of the strict segregation laws of the times, Seymour 
was forced to sit outside the classroom in the hallway. The 
humble Seymour bore the injustice with grace. Seymour must 
have been a man of keen intellect. In just a few weeks, he 
became familiar enough with Parham's teaching to teach it 
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himself. Seymour, however, did not receive the Holy Spirit 
baptism with the evidence of speaking in tongues. 
Parham and Seymour held joint meetings in Houston, with 
Seymour preaching to black audiences and Parham speaking 
to the white groups. Meanwhile, Neely Terry, a guest from 
Los Angeles, met Seymour while he was serving as interim 
pastor at a small church led by Lucy Farrar (also spelled 
Farrow). 
When Terry returned to Los Angeles, she persuaded the small 
Holiness church she attended to call Seymour to Los Angeles 
for a meeting. Her pastor, Julia Hutchinson, extended the 
invitation. 
Seymour arrived in Los Angeles in February 1906. His early 
efforts to preach the Pentecostal message were rebuffed, and 
he was locked out of the church. The leadership was 
suspicious of Seymour's doctrine but was even more 
concerned that he was preaching an experience he had not 
received. 
Moving into the home of Edward Lee, a janitor at a bank, 
Seymour began ministry with a prayer group that had been 
meeting regularly at the home of Richard and Ruth Asbery at 
214 North Bonnie Brae Street. Asbery was also a janitor. 
Most of the worshipers were African-American, but whites 
occasionally visited. As the group prayed their hunger for 
revival intensified. 
On April 9, Lee was baptized in the Holy Spirit with the 
evidence of speaking in other tongues. When the news of his 
baptism was shared with the believers at Bonnie Brae, a 
powerful outpouring followed. Many received the Holy Spirit 
baptism as Pentecostal revival arrived on the West Coast. 
That evening would be hard to describe. People fell to the 
floor as if unconscious; others shouted and ran through the 
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house. One neighbour, Jennie Evans Moore, played the 
piano—something she did not have the ability to do before. 
In the next few days of continuous outpouring, hundreds 
gathered. The streets were filled, and Seymour preached from 
the Asberys' porch. On April 12, three days after the initial 
outpouring, Seymour received his baptism of power. 
Quickly outgrowing the Asbery home, the faithful searched 
for a new meeting place. They found their building at 312 
Azusa Street. The mission had been built as an African 
Methodist Episcopal Church, but when the former tenets 
vacated, the upstairs sanctuary was converted into apartments. 
A fire destroyed the pitched roof, and the flat roof that 
replaced it gave the 40-by-60 building the appearance of a 
square box. The unfinished downstairs with a low ceiling and 
dirt floor was used as a storage building and stable. This 
downstairs became the home of the Apostolic Faith Mission. 
Mismatched chairs and wooden planks were collected for 
seats, and a prayer altar and two wooden crates covered by a 
cheap cloth became the pulpit. 
From this humble location, the Pentecostal message was 
spread around the world. Visitors came from locations both 
far and near to be part of the great revival at the Apostolic 
Faith Mission at 312 Azusa Street in Los Angeles. 
With the help of a stenographer and editor, the mission began 
to publish a newspaper, The Apostolic Faith. Seymour's 
sermons were transcribed and printed, along with news of the 
meetings and the many missionaries that were being sent 
forth. The papers literally spread the Pentecostal message 
across the globe. Circulation for the little paper exceeded 
50,000. 
Despite all the success, the revival faced opposition from 
without and within. Charles Parham, insulted by the 
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emotionalism and racial composition of the meetings, brought 
the first major split. Many others followed. When Seymour 
married Jennie Evans Moore on May 13, 1908, another group 
left the mission. Denominational churches were vicious in 
their attacks. Just a few years after the revival began only a 
skeleton crew, mostly black and mostly the Bonnie Brae 
group, kept the fire burning in the old mission. 
Seymour continued to pastor the church until his death. Yet 
his work was not limited to Los Angeles. He travelled 
extensively, establishing churches and preaching the good 
news. He even wrote and edited a book, The Doctrines and 
Discipline of the Apostolic Faith Mission, to help govern the 
churches he had helped to birth. 
On September 28, 1922, Seymour experienced chest pains 
and shortness of breath, and though a doctor was called, he 
passed away. Some say he died from a broken heart. Faithful 
to the end, his last words were, "I love my Jesus so." Seymour 
was laid to rest in Los Angeles' Evergreen Cemetery. His 
gravestone reads simply, "Our Pastor." 
After his passing, his wife, Jennie, succeeded him as minister 
at old Azusa. Eventually, the mission was torn down by the 
city of Los Angeles, and the property was lost. But what 
happened there will never be forgotten. 
As the 20th century closed, the Religion Newswriters 
Association named the Azusa Street Revival one of the top 10 
events of the millennium, and Christian History magazine 
named William J. Seymour one of the top 10 Christians of the 
20th century. 
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